Preface

Thank you for choosing the JT600 series of AC Drives developed by Juditech Electric Co., Ltd. Juditech designs and manufactures the JT600 Series of AC Drives for the industrial automation applications and focus on product quality improvement by launching the policy of continuous product development and gradual improvement.

The JT600 is a high-performance and multipurpose industrial product aiming to integrate synchronous motor drive with asynchronous motor drive, and torque control, speed control with position control. It is designed with advanced vector control technology and the latest digital processor dedicated for motor control, thus enhancing product reliability and adaptability to the environment.

The JT600 adopts customized and industrialized design to realize excellent control performance through optimized functions and flexible applications.

JT600 uses high power density design. Some power ranges carry built-in DC reactor and brake unit to save installation space. Through overall EMC design, it can satisfy the low noise and low electromagnetic interference requirements to cope with challenging grid, temperature, humidity and dust conditions, thus greatly improving product reliability.

This operation manual presents installation wiring, parameter setup, fault diagnosis and trouble shooting, and precautions related to daily maintenance. Read through this manual carefully before installation to ensure the AC Drive is installed and operated in a proper manner to give full play to its excellent performance and powerful functions.

It is the responsibility of the user or machine builder or installation contractor or electrical designer/engineer to take all necessary precautions to ensure that the system complies with current standards, and to provide any devices (including safety components), required to ensure the overall safety of the equipment and personnel.

If there is any doubt with regards to the software version or the manual contents, please contact us.

Safety Information and Precautions

Safety definition



It is essential for avoiding a safety hazard. Serious physical injury or even death may occur if related requirements are not followed.



It is necessary for avoiding a risk of damage to the product or other machine.



As high voltage still presents in the bus capacitor after power off, wait for at least five minutes (or 15 min / 25 min, depending on the warning symbols on the machine) after power off to prevent electric shock.

Electrical Safety

Extreme care must be taken at all times when working with the AC Drive or within the area of the AC Drive. The voltages used in the AC Drive can cause severe electrical shock or burns and is potentially lethal. Only professional and qualified personnel should be allowed to work on AC Drives.Read the operation manual before operating on the equipment.

The guidelines and recommendations should be followed in order to gain long term trouble free operation as the lifetime of the AC Drive is dependent on the working environment and correct handling of the product in the initial installation stage.

Delivery and installation

Select appropriate tools for delivery and installation to ensure a safe and proper running of the AC Drive and avoid physical injury or death. To ensure physical safety, the installation staff should take mechanical protective measures, wearing exposure shoes and working uniforms;

R, S and T are the power input terminals, and U, V and W are output motor terminals. Connect the input power cables and motor cables properly; otherwise, damage to the AC Drive may occur. Connect the optional brake parts (brake resistors, brake units or feedback units) according to the wiring diagram.Do not touch the AC Drive with wet items or body parts; otherwise, electric shock may occur.

When using an earth leakage circuit breaker, use a residual current operated protective device (RCD) of type B (breaker which can detect both AC and DC). Leakage current can cause unprotected components to operate incorrectly. If this is a problem, lower the carrier frequency, replace the components in question with parts protected against harmonic current, or increase the sensitivity amperage of the leakage breaker to at least 200 mA per drive.

Adjusting AC Drive Parameters

Disconnect all power sources applied to the AC Drive before terminal wiring, and wait for at least the time designated on the AC Drive after disconnecting the power sources.

High voltage presents inside the AC Drive during running. Do not carry out any operation on the AC Drive during running except for keypad setup.

This manual provides a complete list of the parameters with functional description and care should always be taken whenever parameters are adjusted during a live running startup. Juditech can provide product training and if in doubt seek advice.

Maintenance and component replacement

Only well-trained and qualified professionals are allowed to perform maintenance, inspection, and component replacement on the AC Drive.

Take measures to prevent screws, cables and other conductive matters from falling into the AC Drive during maintenance and component replacement.

Do not perform wiring, inspection or component replacement when power supply is applied. Ensure all the input power supplies are disconnected before wiring and inspection, and wait for at least the time designated on the AC Drive or until the DC bus voltage is less than 36V. The minimum waiting time is listed in the table below.

AC Drive Model	Minimum waiting time
0.75kW-110kW	5min
132kW-315kW	15min
Above 355kW	25min

Contents

Preface	1 -
Safety Information and Precautions	2 -
Contents	4 -
Chapter 1 Product Information	5 -
1.1 Product Type Identification	5 -
1.2 Product Nameplate	5 -
1.3 JT600 Inverter Series	6 -
1.4 Product Description	- 7 -
1.6 Product Appearance and Dimensions	- 10 -
1.7 Keyboard Appearance and Dimensions	- 13 -
1.8 Appearance and Hole Size of the Keyboard Tray	- 13 -
Chanter 2 Machanical Installation	- 14 -
2 I Installation Environment	14
2.1 Installation Environment	14
2.2 Instantation Space and Directions.	14 -
2.5 Dismanning of the Cover Plate	10 -
Chapter 5 Electrical Installation	1/-
3.1 Electrical Installation	1/-
3.2 Description of Peripheral Electrical Devices	18 -
3.3 Peripheral Electrical Components Selection Guidance	19 -
3.4 Selection of Braking Unit and Braking Resistor	19 -
3.5 Selection of Expansion Card	21 -
3.6 Wiring Method	22 -
Chapter 4 Keyboard and Display	34 -
4.1 Operation and Display Interface	34 -
4.2 Keyboard Indicators Description	35 -
4.3 Keyboard Button Description	35 -
4.4 Viewing and Modifying Function Codes	35 -
4.5 Selecting Menu Mode	36 -
Chapter 5 Basic Operation and Test Run	37 -
5.1 Quick Adjustment Guidance	37 -
5.2 Precautions Before Power-On	38 -
5.3 Display Status After Power-On	38 -
5.4 Motor Control Methods Selection	38 -
5.5 Initialization of Parameters	40 -
5.6 Operation Commands Source Selection	40 -
5.7 Frequency Source Selection	41 -
5.8 Ston Modes Selection	- 41 -
5.9 Observation of Operation Status via DO and AO	- 42 -
Chapter 6 Function Parameter L ist	- 43 -
Chapter 7 Description of Parameters	- 67 -
Group AO: Basic Function	- 67 -
Group AO: Auxiliary Parameters	07 -
Group A2: Protection Parameters	74
Group A5: Communication Parameters	74 -
Group RJ: Vostor Control Documentors	
Group D1, Vector Control Fatalleters	- 75 -
Group Comput Terminal	/0 -
Group C1: Analog Input Junction	80 -
Group C2: Output Terminals	81 -
Group DU: Process Control PID Function	8/ -
Group D1: Multi-Reference and Simple PLC Function Parameters	90 -
Group U1: Monitoring Parameters	93 -
Chapter 8 Maintenance and Troubleshooting	95 -
8.1 Daily Maintenance and Inspection of JT600	95 -
Appendix A: MODBUS Communication Protocol	- 102 -

Chapter 1 Product Information

1.1 Product Type Identification

This is an example of the nameplate of standard JT600 products.



Figure 1.1 Product Model Name

1.2 Product Nameplate



Figure 1.2 Product type identification

Note:

Built-in brake unit is included in standard configuration of 380V 22kW and below models;Brake unit is not included in standard configuration of 380V 30kW and 37kW models (optional built-in brake unit is available, suffix "-B" indicates optional built-in brake unit).

1.3 JT600 Inverter Series

Product Model	Input current (A)	Output current (A)	Motor (kW)
JT600-T3-0R7G/1R5PB	3.4	2.1	0.75
JT600-T3-1R5G/2R2PB	5	3.8	1.5
JT600-T3-2R2G/4R0PB	5.8	5.1	2.2
JT600-T3-4R0G/5R5PB	10.5	9	3.7
JT600-T3-5R5G/7R5PB	14.6	13	5.5
JT600-T3-7R5G/011PB	20.5	17	7.5
JT600-T3-011G/015PB	26	25	11
JT600-T3-015G/018PB	35	32	15
JT600-T3-018G/022PB	38.5	37	18.5
JT600-T3-022G/030PB	46.5	45	22
JT600-T3-030G/037P	62	60	30
JT600-T3-037G/045P	76	75	37
JT600-T3-045G/055P	92	91	45
JT600-T3-055G/075P	113	112	55
JT600-T3-075G/090P	157	150	75
JT600-T3-090G/110P	180	176	90
JT600-T3-110G/132P	214	210	110
JT600-T3-132G/160P	256	253	132
JT600-T3-160G/185P	307	304	160
JT600-T3-200G/220P	385	377	200
JT600-T3-220G/250P	430	426	220
JT600-T3-250G/280P	468	465	250
JT600-T3-280G/315P	525	520	280
JT600-T3-315G/355P	590	585	315
JT600-T3-355G/400P	665	650	355
JT600-T3-400G/450P	785	725	400
JT600-T3-450G	883	820	450
JT600-T3-500G	910	900	500
JT600-T3-560G	1100	1020	560
JT600-T3-630G	1160	1120	630
JT600-T3-710G	1171	1260	710

1.4 Product Description



Figure 1.3 Components of Plastic Case Model



Figure 1.4 Components of the Metallic Case Model

1.5 Technical Specifications

Table 1.2 Technical Specifications of JT600

Item			Specification	
	Maximum frequency	320Hz		
	Carrier frequency	0.5kHz~8kHz The carrier frequency i temperature	s automatically adjusted based on the	
	Input frequency resolution	Digital setting:0.01Hz Analog setting:maximu	Im frequency ×0.025%	
Control mode S		Voltage/Frequency(V/F Sensorless Vector Cont Feedback Vector Control	r) control rol (SVC) ol (FVC)	
	Startup torque	G type: 0.5Hz/150% (S P type: 0.5Hz/100%	VC); 0Hz/180% (FVC)	
	Speed range	1:100(SVC)	1:1000(FVC)	
	Speed stability accuracy	±0.5%(SVC)	±0.02%(FVC)	
	Torque control accuracy	±0.5% (FVC)		
Standard	Overload capacity	G type: 60s for 150% rated current P type: 60s for 120% rated current	of rated current and 3s for 180% of of rated current and 3s for 150% of	
functions	Torque boost	Automatic torque boost Manual torque boost 0.	t 1%~30.0%	
	V/F curve	Straight-line V/F curve Multi-point V/F curve Square V/F curve		
	Ramp mode	Straight-line ramp S-curve ramp Four groups of accelers of 0.0–6500.0s	ation/deceleration time with the range	
	DC braking	DC braking frequency: Braking time: 0.0–100. Braking action current	0.00Hz to max.frequency 0s value: 0.0%~100.0%	
	JOG control	JOG frequency range: (JOG acceleration/decel	0.00–50.00 Hz eration time: 0.0–6500.0s	
	Simple PLC, multiply speed running	The system implements function or by using dig	s up to 16 speeds by using simple PLC gital input signals.	
Onboard PID		It implements the close	d-loop process control system easily.	
	Auto voltage regulation (AVR)	The system maintains a automatically when th permissible range.	constant output voltage a grid voltage changes through the	
Standard	Overvoltage& Overcurrent stall control	The current and voltag running process so as overvoltage and overcu	e are limited automatically during the s to avoid frequent tripping due to rrent.	
runctions	Rapid current limit	It decreases the overcurrent faults to the minimum ensures normal running of the AC drive.		

	Torque limit and control	It can limit the torque automatically and prevent frequent overcurrent tripping operation.Torque control is applied in vector control mode.
	High performance	high-performance current vector control technology.
Individua - lized	Power dip ride-through	Load feedback energy compensates for any voltage reduction, allowing the drive to continue to operate for a short time during power dips.
Tunctions	Timing control	Time range: 0.0–6500.0 minutes
	Field bus	Modbus-RTU protocol (485)
	Running command source	 Operation panel control Terminal control Communication control Allows different methods of switching between command sources:
	Frequency setting channel	Supports up to 13 frequency reference setting channels and allows different methods of switching between frequency reference setting channels: Digital setting Analog voltage reference Analog current reference Pulse reference Communication reference
Running	Auxiliary frequency setting channel	Supports up to 10 auxiliary frequency sources, and allows fine tuning of the auxiliary frequency and main & auxiliary calculation.
	Input terminals	5 digital input (DI) terminals, X5 supports up to 100 kHz high-speed pulse input; 2 analog input (AI) terminals, AII only supports 0–10 V voltage input and AI2 supports 0–10 V voltage input or 4–20 mA current input.
	Output terminals	 high-speed pulse output terminal (open-collector) that supports 0–100 kHz square wave signal output digital output (DO) terminal relay output terminals(One is factory default, the other is optional) analog output (AO) terminals that supports 0–20 mA current output or 0–10 V voltage output.
	LED display	Display parameters (three display modes: Basic mode, Ouick menu mode, Non-factory value mode)
Display & operate panel	Protection function	Phase loss protection; Instantaneous overcurrent protection; overheat protection;Short-circuit protection; overvoltage protection; undervoltage protection; overload protection; overcurrent protection;
	Optional parts	Braking unit, I/O and AI extension card, field bus communication card, differential input PG card, OC input PG card, sin/cos PG card.

	Installation location	Indoor, free from direct sunlight, dust, corrosive gas, combustible gas, oil smoke, vapour, drip or salt.
	Altitude	Lower than 1000 m (derated if higher than 1000 m)
Environ-	Ambient temperature	$-10 \ \ C$ to $+40 \ \ C$ (derated if the ambient temperature is between 40 $\ \ C$ and 50 $\ \ C$).
ment	Humidity	Less than 95%RH, without condensing
	Vibration	Less than 5.9 m/s2 (0.6 g)
	Storage temperature	−20°C~+60°C

1.6 Product Appearance and Dimensions



Figure 1.5 Plastic Case Mounting Dimensions



Figure 1.6 Metallic Case Mounting Dimensions

Model	Mou Holes I	Mounting Holes Position		Dim	Dimensions		
	W1	H1	Н	W	D1	D	noies
JT600-T3-0R7G/1R5PB							
JT600-T3-1R5G/2R2PB	88.4	168.4	180	100	152	159	φ5.5
JT600-T3-2R2G/4R0PB							
JT600-T3-4R0G/5R5PB	110 /	224.5	226	120	162.5	170.5	
JT600-T3-5R5G/7R5PB	116.4	224.3	230	150	105.5	170.5	φ3.5
JT600-T3-7R5G/011PB	1.4.1	242	260	155	175	102	<i>6</i> 7
JT600-T3-011G/015PB	141	243	260	155	175	182	Ψ7
JT600-T3-015G/018PB							
JT600-T3-018G/022PB	190	273.5	291.5	197	175	182	φ6
JT600-T3-022G/030PB							
JT600-T3-030G/037P	220	202	105	0.50	100	107	
JT600-T3-037G/045P	220	392	405	253	180	187	φ7
JT600-T3-045G/055P	260	555	575	240	250	250	<i>(</i> 210)
JT600-T3-055G/075P	200	555	575	540	250	239	φισ
JT600-T3-075G/090P	260	500	610	410	270	270	10
JT600-T3-090G/110P	200	390	010	410	270	219	φ10
JT600-T3-110G/132P	220	(00)	720	155	225	224	12
JT600-T3-132G/160P	320	690	720	455	325	334	φ12
JT600-T3-160G/185P	260	015	000	520	267	276	m14
JT600-T3-200G/220P	300	643	880	330	507	570	φ14
JT600-T3-220G/250P							
JT600-T3-250G/280P	480	1005	1040	650	411	420	φ14
JT600-T3-280G/315P							
JT600-T3-315G/355P							
JT600-T3-355G/400P	600	1252	1200	015	407	126	a14
JT600-T3-400G/450P	000	1252	1300	815	427	430	φ14
JT600-T3-450G							

1.6.2 Cabinet Installation Dimensions





righte 1.0 Cubiner Instantation Dimension	Figure 1.8	Cabinet	Installation	Dimer	nsions
---	------------	---------	--------------	-------	--------

Model	Appearance Dimensions (mm)				Installation Dimensions		Diameter of Mounting
	Н	W	L	L1	H1	W1	Holes
JT600-T3-045G/055P	240	240	850	810	190	280	<i>(</i> 12)
JT600-T3-055G/075P	249	540	850	010	160	200	ψ12
JT600-T3-075G/090P	265	116	000	840	100	250	<i>a</i> 10
JT600-T3-090G/110P	203	410	880	840	190	330	φ10
JT600-T3-110G/132P	377	461	080	035	220	380	(012
JT600-T3-132G/160P	327	461	980	933	220	380	ψ12
JT600-T3-160G/185P	267	526	1100	1142	200	460	<i>(</i> 12)
JT600-T3-200G/220P	307	550	1190	1142	290	400	ψ12
JT600-T3-220G/280P	412	656	1400	1254	200	560	<i>(</i> 12)
JT600-T3-280G/315P	412	030	1400	1554	300	300	ψ12
JT600-T3-315G/400P							
JT600-T3-400G/450P	428	815	1757	1702	300	730	φ12
JT600-T3-450G							
JT600-T3-500G	600	1150	1000	/	490	1050	a 19
JT600-T3-560G	000	1150	1900	/	480	1050	φ18
JT600-T3-630G	600	1210	2208	/	190	1210	<i>a</i> 19
JT600-T3-710G	000	1510	2208	/	480	1210	φ18

1.7 Keyboard Appearance and Dimensions



Figure 1.9 Appearance and Dimensions of the Keyboard (mm)

1.8 Appearance and Hole Size of the Keyboard Tray



Figure 1.10 Keyboard Tray Appearance and Hole Size (mm)

Chapter 2 Mechanical Installation

2.1 Installation Environment

1. Ambient Temperature: The temperature affects the life of product. It is prohibited to run the product out of ambient temperature range (-10°C~50°C).

2. Please install the product on flame retardants and mount it vertically on mounting brackets using blots or screws. Be sure to allow sufficient space around the inverter for heat dissipation since it generates heat while running.

3. Please install the inverter on a flat surface where the vibration should remain lower than 0.6g, away from punches, etc.

4. Avoid installing the inverter under direct sunlight or in humid places.

5. Avoid installing the inverter in places of corrosive, flammable and explosive gas.

6. Avoid installing the inverter in places full of oil, dust and metal particles.

2.2 Installation Space and Directions

2.2.1 Single Inverter Installation: the installation and insulation space for an inverter has to be left out based on its different power ratings.



Power level		Size Requirement	s
0.75kW-22kW	A≥10mm	B≥100mm	C≥40mm
30kW-37kW	A≥50mm	B≥200mm	C≥40mm
45kW-75kW	A≥50mm	B≥200mm	C≥40mm
90kW-710kW	A≥50mm	B≥200mm	C≥40mm

2.2.2 Multiple Inverters Installation: Inverters dissipate from bottom to top. Therefore, when multiple inverters are operating, they are usually installed side by side and aligned to top, especially for different sizes of inverters.



Power level	Size Requirements
0.75kW-22kW	A≥10mm
30kW-37kW	A≥50mm
45kW-75kW	A≥50mm
90kW-710kW	A≥50mm

2.2.3 Multiple Inverters Installed Vertically:

In occasions where multiple inverters need installed vertically next to each other, the lower row of inverters' dissipation of heat will cause a temperature rise of the upper row of inverters, resulting in the

overheat/overload errors of the upper row of inverters. Therefore, it is recommended to take measures such as installing a insulation plate in between as the following the figure:



Figure 2.1 Inverter Installation Diagram

Note: Please install an insulation plate according to the figure above when installing two inverters vertically next to each other.

Attention Matters for Heat Dissipation of Mechanically Mounting:

1) The inverter should be installed vertically for heat dissipation but cannot be put upside down. Installing the inverters side by side is highly recommended for installing a number of them in one cabinet. Please refer to figure 3-1 when installing the insulation plate

2) Follow Figure 3.1 to ensure the dissipation space for the inverters. The heat dissipation of other machines in the cabinet should be considered as well.

3) The mounting bracket must be flame retardant material.

4) Installing the radiator outside the cabinet is recommended if there are metal dusts at the installation location. Please make sure the sealed cabinet space is as large as possible.

2.3 Dismantling of the Cover Plate



Figure 2.2 Remove the Cover Plate (Plastic Case)



Figure 2.3 Remove the Cover Plate (Metallic Case)

Chapter 3 Electrical Installation

3.1 Electrical Installation



Figure 3.1 Peripheral Electrical Devices

• Do not install capacitors or surge suppressor on the output side of the inverter ,which will lead to a breakdown or cause damage to the capacitor the surge suppressor.

• Input/Output (Major Loop) of the inverter contains harmonics, which may interfere with the communication devices connected to the inverter. Therefore, anti-interference filters are recommended to install in order to minimize the interference.

•Please refer to the selection manual of peripheral equipment for more details of peripheral devices and options.

3.2 Description of Peripheral Electrical Devices

Items	Function Descriptions
МССВ	Disconnect the power supply when over current occurs on downstream devices
Residual Current Circuit Breaker (RCCB)	Since the output of the inverter is high-frequency pulse voltage, high-frequency leakage occurs sometimes; When installing an RCCB on the input side, it is recommended to choose the special-use RCCB. It is suggested to choose the model "B" for RCCB, and the leakage current is set to 300mA.
Contactor	Start and stop the inverter. Avoid starting and stopping the inverter frequently by switching the contactor on and off (less than twice per minute) nor use it to directly start the inverter.
EMC Input Filter	 Reduce the external conduction and radiation interference of the inverter. Decrease the conducting interference flowing from the power terminals to the inverter and improve the anti-interference capability of the inverter.
AC Input Reactor	 Improve the power factor of the input side; Eliminate the higher harmonics generation on the input side effectively and prevent other devices from being damaged due to distortion of the voltage waveform. Eliminate the imbalance among the power phases that causes the imbalance of input current.
DC Reactor	 Improve the power factor of the input side. Improve the efficiency and thermal stability of the inverter. Eliminate the impact of higher harmonics of the inverter input side and reduce the external radiation and interference.
AC Output Reactor	 The output side of the inverter generally has much higher harmonics. When the motor is far from the inverter, there is distributed capacitance in the circuit and certain harmonics may cause resonance in the circuit, bringing the following two effects: Impair the motor insulation performance and damage the motor on the long run. Generate large leakage current and cause frequent protection of tripping on the inverter. If the distance between the inverter and the motor is greater than 100 m, an AC output reactor is recommended.

Table 3.1	Description	of Peripheral	Electrical Devices	5
-----------	-------------	---------------	--------------------	---

3.3 Peripheral Electrical Components Selection Guidance

Converter model	MCCB (A)	Contactor (A)	Power Input Cable (mm ²)	Power Output Cable (mm ²)	Control Circuit Wirings (mm ²)
JT600-T3-0R7G/1R5PB	6	9	0.75	0.75	0.5
JT600-T3-1R5G/2R2PB	10	9	0.75	0.75	0.5
JT600-T3-2R2G/4R0PB	10	9	0.75	0.75	0.5
JT600-T3-4R0G/5R5PB	16	12	1.5	1.5	0.5
JT600-T3-5R5G/7R5PB	20	18	2.5	2.5	0.75
JT600-T3-7R5G/011PB	32	25	4.0	4.0	0.75
JT600-T3-011G/015PB	40	32	4.0	4.0	0.75
JT600-T3-015G/018PB	50	38	6.0	6.0	0.75
JT600-T3-018G/022PB	50	40	10	10	1.0
JT600-T3-022G/030PB	63	50	10	10	1.0
JT600-T3-030G/037P	100	65	16	16	1.0
JT600-T3-037G/045P	100	80	25	25	1.0
JT600-T3-045G/055P	125	95	35	35	1.0
JT600-T3-055G/075P	160	115	50	50	1.0
JT600-T3-075G/090P	225	170	70	70	1.0
JT600-T3-090G/110P	250	205	95	95	1.0
JT600-T3-110G/132P	315	245	120	120	1.0
JT600-T3-132G/160P	350	300	120	120	1.0
JT600-T3-160G/185P	400	300	150	150	1.0
JT600-T3-200G/220P	500	410	185	185	1.0
JT600-T3-220G/250P	630	475	2*120	2*120	1.0
JT600-T3-250G/280P	630	475	2*120	2*120	1.0
JT600-T3-280G/315P	700	620	2*120	2*120	1.0
JT600-T3-315G/355P	800	620	2*150	2*150	1.0
JT600-T3-355G /400P	1000	800	2*185	2*185	1.0
JT600-T3-400G /450P	1250	800	2*240	2*240	1.0
JT600-T3-450G	1250	1000	2*240	2*240	1.0
JT600-T3-500G	1600	1000	2*300	2*300	1.0
JT600-T3-560G	1600	1250	2*300	2*300	1.0
JT600-T3-630G	2000	1600	2*300	2*300	1.0
JT600-T3-710G	2500	2000	2*300	2*300	1.0

3.4 Selection of Braking Unit and Braking Resistor

Value selection of the Braking Resistor

The AC drive transfers regenerative energy generated during braking of motor to external braking resistor.

According to the formula $U^* U/R = Pb$:

- U: the braking voltage at system stable braking.
- U: value varies with the system. The 380 VAC power system usually selects 700 V braking
- Pb: braking power.
- Power selection of the Braking Resistor

In theory, power of braking resistor is the same as braking power. But in consideration of derating, power of braking resistor is calculated from the following formula: according to the formula: 0.7 * Pr = Pb* D.

- Pr: the power of resistor.
- D: the braking frequency (percentage of the regenerative process to the whole working process)

Common Applications	Elevator	Uncoiling and Coiling	Centrifuge	Accidental Braking Load	General Occasions
Selection of the Breaking Frequency	20%-30%	20%-30%	50%-60%	5%	10%

The following table provides data for reference. User may select different resistance and power based on their actual needs. However, the value of resistance must not be greater than the recommended value. The power may be larger than the recommended value.

The braking resistor model depends on the generation power of the motor in the actual system and is also related to the system's inertia, deceleration time and potential energy load. The higher a system's inertia is, the shorter the deceleration time is. Frequent braking requires braking resisters of larger power and smaller resistance.

Inverter Models	Recommended Braking Pesistor	Recommended Braking Resistor	Braking Unit
Inverter models	Power	Resistance	Diaking Onit
JT600-T3-0R7G/1R5PB	150W	≥300Ω	
JT600-T3-1R5G/2R2PB	150W	$\geq 220\Omega$]
JT600-T3-2R2G/4R0PB	250W	$\geq 200\Omega$	
JT600-T3-4R0G/5R5PB	300W	$\geq 130\Omega$]
JT600-T3-5R5G/7R5PB	400W	$\geq 90\Omega$]
JT600-T3-7R5G/011PB	500W	$\geq 65\Omega$]
JT600-T3-011G/015PB	800W	$\geq 43\Omega$	
JT600-T3-015G/018PB	1.0kW	$\geq 32\Omega$]
JT600-T3-018G/022PB	1.3kW	$\geq 25\Omega$]
JT600-T3-022G/030PB	1.5kW	$\geq 22\Omega$	
JT600-T3-030G/037P	2.5kW	$\geq 16\Omega$	Built-In
JT600-T3-037G/045P	3.7 kW	≥12.6Ω	(optional)
JT600-T3-045G/055P	4.5 kW	≥9.4Ω	
JT600-T3-055G/075P	5.5 kW	≥9.4Ω]
JT600-T3-075G/090P	7.5 kW	≥6.3Ω]
JT600-T3-090G/110P	4.5 kW×2	≥9.4Ω×2]
JT600-T3-110G/132P	5.5 kW×2	≥9.4Ω×2	External
JT600-T3-132G/160P	6.5 kW×2	≥6.3Ω×2]
JT600-T3-160G/200P	16 kW	≥6.3Ω×2]
JT600-T3-200G/220P	20 kW	≥2.5Ω]
JT600-T3-220G/250P	22 kW	≥2.5Ω	<u> </u>
JT600-T3-250G/280P	12.5 kW×2	≥2.5Ω×2	
JT600-T3-280G/315P	14 kW×2	$\geq 2.5 \Omega \times 2$]
JT600-T3-315G /355P	16 kW×2	$\geq 2.5 \Omega \times 2$	
JT600-T3-355G /400P	17 kW×2	$\geq 2.5 \Omega \times 2$	
JT600-T3-400G /450P	14 kW×3	≥2.5Ω×3	Extornal
JT600-T3-450G	15 kW×3	≥2.5Ω×3	External
JT600-T3-500G	20 kW×4	$\geq 2.5\Omega \times 4$	
JT600-T3-560G	25 kW×4	≥2.5Ω×4	
JT600-T3-630G	28 kW×4	≥2.5Ω×4	
JT600-T3-710G	32 kW×4	≥2.5Ω×4	

• " $\times2$ " indicates that two braking units with each braking resistor are connected in parallel. • " $\times3$ " indicates the same as " $\times2$ "

3.5 Selection of Expansion Card

Model	Supported Model	Name	Function Descriptions
A00E01	All	485 Communication Card	Expand RS485 Port, Support MODBUS Communication Protocol, Inverter as Slave
A00E02	All	OC Output PG Card	Correspond to 0C output encoder
A00E03	All	Differential Output PG Card	Correspond to differential output encoder
A00E05	All	I/O Expansion Card	Expand 5 digital inputs, support leakage and source pattern wiring methods, and support external power.
A00E08	All	Resolver PG Card	Resolver Expansion Card
A00E12	All	Injection Molding Machine Current Riser Card	Support proportional pressure and proportional data input 0-1A and 0-2A. Support touch screen's one-click parameters setting.
A00E13	All	485+3I Expansion Card	Expand RS485 port, support MODBUS Communication Protocol, inverter as slave, and expand 3 digital inputs
A00E15	All	485+Differential Output Expansion Card	Correspond to differential output encoders, and 485 communications.
A00E18	All	Double PT100 Motor Temperature Collecting Card	Collecting Motor's Temperature
A00E19	All	Rotary Encoder Expansion Card	Resolver Expansion Card
A00E20	All	485+3DI Expansion Card	Expand RS485 port, support MODBUS Communication Protocol, inverter as slave, and expand 2 digital inputs

3.6 Wiring Method

A typical wiring method of JT600 Series Inverter is shown below:





Note:

1) Terminal •: Major Loop Terminals, Terminal o: Control Circuit Terminals.

2) The product models with "B" indicates the braking units.

3) Choose the braking resistors based on users' needs. Refer to Selection of Braking Unit and Braking Resistor (P22-24).

4) Signal wires and power wires must be routed separately. If the control cables and power cables cross together, it is best to make them crossed as 90 degrees. The analog signal line is best to use shielded twisted pair; The power cable is best to use shielded three-core cable (its specifications are higher than the average motor cable's) or to follow the user manual.

5) R is the standard relay, the relay E is optional.

3.6.1 Product Terminals and Wiring

Figure 3.3 Single-Phase 0.75-2.2kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

1) Three-Phase Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Description:

Symbol	Name	Function Descriptions
R、 S、 T	Three-Phase Power Supply Input Terminals	Connect to the three-phase AC power supply
+、-	Positive and Negative Terminals of DC Bus	Common DC Bus Input point Connect the external braking units to the inverters of 45 kW and above
+、PB	Connecting Terminals of Braking Resistors	Connect the braking resistors to tl M4 Combination Screw below
P1/PR、+	Connecting Terminals of External Reactor	Connect to an external reactor
U、V、W	Inverter Output Terminals	Connect to a three-phase motor
Ð	Ground Terminal	Must be grounded



Figure 3.4 Three-Phase 0.75-2.2kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-0R75G/1R5PB	3.4	0.75	SNB1.25-4S	0.75	SNB1.25-4S
JT600-T3-1R5G/2R2PB	5	0.75	SNB1.25-4S	0.75	SNB1.25-4S
JT600-T3-2R2G/4R0PB	5.8	0.75	SNB1.25-4S	0.75	SNB1.25-4S

M4 Combination Screw



Figure 3.5 Three-Phase 4.0-5.5kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-4R0G/5R5PB	10.5	1.5	SNB2-4S	1.5	SNB2-4S
JT600-T3-5R5G/7R5PB	14.6	2.5	SNB2-4S	2.5	SNB2-4S



Figure 3.6 Three-Phase 7.5-11kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-7R5G/011PB	20.5	4.0	SNB3.5-5	4.0	SNB3.5-5
JT600-T3-011G/015PB	26	4.0	SNB3.5-5	4.0	SNB3.5-5



Figure 3.7 Three-Phase 15-22kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-015G/018PB	35	6.0	SNB5.5-6S	6.0	SNB5.5-6S
JT600-T3-018G/022PB	38.5	10	SNB8-6	10	SNB8-6
JT600-T3-022G/030PB	46.5	10	SNB8-6	10	SNB8-6



Figure 3.8 Three-Phase 30-37kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	M8 Combin	nation Screw Terminal Models
JT600-T3-030G/037P	62	16	SNB14-6	16	SNB14-6
JT600-T3-037G/045P	76	25	SNB22-8	16	SNB14-6



Figure 3.9 Three-Phase 45-55kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-045G/055P	92	35	RNB38-8S	16	SNB14-6
JT600-T3-055G/075P	113	50	RNB38-8S	25	SNB22-6





Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-075G/090P	157	70	RNB60-10	35	RNB38-10S
JT600-T3-090G/110P	180	95	RNB80-10	50	RNB38-10S



Figure 3.11 Three-Phase 110-132kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram



Figure 3.12 Three-Phase 160-200kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-160G/185P	307	185	DT185-12	95	RNB80-12
JT600-T3-200G/220P	385	2*120	DT240-12	120	DT120-12



Figure 3.13 Three-Phase 220-280kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-220G/250P	430	2*120	DT240-16	120	DT120-16
JT600-T3-250G/280P	468	2*120	DT240-16	120	DT120-16
JT600-T3-280G/315P	525	2*150	DT300-16	150	DT150-16



Figure 3.14 Three-Phase 315-450kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-315G/355P	590	2*150	DT300-16	150	DT150-16
JT600-T3-355G/400P	665	2*185	DT400-16	185	DT185-16
JT600-T3-400G	785	2*200	DT400-16	200	DT200-16
JT600-T3-450G	883	2*300	2*DT300-16	300	DT300-16



Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-500G	900	2*300	2*DT300-16	300	DT300-16
JT600-T3-560G	1020	2*300	2*DT300-16	300	DT300-16



Figure 3.16 Three-Phase 630-710kW Inverter's Terminal Layout of Major Circuit and Size Diagram

Model	Rated Input Current A	Recommended Input Output Power Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models	Recommended Ground Cable mm ²	Recommended Solderless Terminal Models
JT600-T3-630G	1120	2*300	2*DT300-16	300	DT300-16
JT600-T3-710G	1260	2*300	2*DT300-16	300	DT300-16

Note: In the lists above, 2*120 represents 2 cables of 120mm ?

All the recommended solderless terminals above are manufactured by Shenzhen Goldsite (RNB series and DT Series Solderless Terminals)

Precautions on Wiring

a) Power Input Terminals L1, L2 or R, S, T

No Phase Sequence Requirements.

b) DC Bus Terminals (+), (-)

• Terminals (+) and (-) of DC bus still have remaining charge with hazardous voltages after the inverter is switched off. After the indicator "CHARGE" goes off, wait at least 10 minutes before touching the inverter. Otherwise, you might get electric shock.

• Be sure to connect the external braking components to the corresponding terminals(+) and (-). Otherwise it could cause a fire.

• The cable length of the braking units shall be no longer than 10m. Use twisted-pair cables or pair wires for parallel connection.

•Do not connect the braking resistors directly to the DC bus. Otherwise, it may damage the inverter and even cause a fire.

c) Connecting Terminals of Braking Resistor (+), PB

• The connecting terminals of the braking resistor are effective only for the inverters of 37kW or below with a built-in braking unit.

• The cable length of the braking resistor shall be less than 5 m. Otherwise, it may damage the inverter.

d) Connecting Terminals of External Reactor P1/PR, (+)

•For the inverter of 45 kW and above, remove the jumper bar across terminals P1 /PR and (+) and install the reactor between the two terminals.

e) Output Terminals of Inverter: U, V, W

•The specification and installation method of external power cables must comply with the local safety regulations and IEC standards.

•The capacitor or surge absorber must not be connected to the output side of the inverter. Otherwise, it may cause frequent errors or even damage the inverter.

•If the motor cable is too long, electrical resonance will be generated due to the impact of distributed capacitance. This will damage the motor insulation or generate higher leakage current, causing over current protection on the inverter. If the motor cable is greater than 100 m long, an AC output reactor must be installed close to the inverter.

f) Terminal DE:

•This terminal must be properly grounded. Otherwise, it may cause electric shock, malfunction or even damage to the inverter.

•Do not connect the ground terminal to the neutral terminal of the power supply.

3.6.2 Control Terminals and Wiring

1) Terminal Arrangement of Control Circuit:



3.17 Control Circuit Terminals Layout

2)	Description	of Control	Circuit	Terminals:
-/	Desemption	or common	chican	rermanor

Туре	Terminal	Name	Function Description
	+10V-GND External +10 V power supply		Provide +10 V power supply to external unit. Generally, it provides power supply to external potentiometer with resistance range of $1-5 \text{ k}\Omega$. Maximum output current: 10 mA
Power supply	24V-COM	External +24V power supply	Provide +24 V power supply to external unit. Generally, it provides power supply to input and output terminals and external sensors. Maximum output current: 200 mA
	PLC External power input terminal		X input terminal of the power connector, the factory default control panel 24V with short, if you need an external 24V power supply, you need to jumper terminals on the control panel to remove the external 24V power to the PLC terminal
Power supply	YCM Yn output common terminal		Y1, Y2 two output terminals can be individually grounded, and control panel factory default COM shorted to ground alone if necessary, the need to control board jumpers removed, the terminal will be connected to the YCM

Туре	Terminal	Name	Function Description	
	AI1-GND	Analog input terminal 1	 Input voltage range:DC 0V~10V Input impedance :22kΩ 	
Analog input	AI2-GND	Analog input terminal 2	 Input range: DC 0V ~10V /0mA ~20mA, decided by the AI2 jumper on the control board. Input impedance: 22 kΩ (voltage input), 500 Ω (current input) 	
	X1-COM	Digital input1		
	X2-COM	Digital input2	1 Optical coupling isolation, compatible with dual polarity input	
Digital	X3-COM	Digital input3	2. Impedance: 2.4 k Ω	
input	X4-COM	Digital input4	3 Voltage range for level input: 9–30 V	
	X5-COM	High-speed pulse input terminal	Besides features of X1 – X4, it can be used for high-speed pulse input. Maximum input frequency: 100 kHz	
Analog	AO1-GND Analog output		Voltage or current output is decided by jumper AO1. Output voltage range: 0–10 V Output current range: 0–20 mA	
output AO2-GND		Analog output 2	Output range:0V~10V/0mA~20mA Using the AO2 jumper on the left side of the control board to determine the voltage or current output.	
Digital	Y1-YCM Digital output 1		Optical coupling isolation, dual polarity open collector output Output voltage range: 0–24 V Output current range: 0–50 mA Note that YCM and COM are internally insulated, but they are shorted by jumper externally.	
Y2-YCM		High-speed pulse output terminal	It is limited by F3.00 As high-speed pulse output, the maximum frequency hits 100 kHz. As open-collector output, it specification is the same as that of Y1	
Relay	R/B-R/C	R relay normally closed terminal	Contact actuation capability: AC250V. 3A. COS@=0.4.	
output	R/A-R/C	R relay normally open terminal	Relay E matching	
Relay	E/B-E/C	E relay normally closed terminal	Contact actuation capability:	
output	E/A-E/C	E relay normally open terminal	AC250V, 3A, COSφ=0.4. Relay E matching	

Table 3.20 Description of Control Circuit Terminals

3) Wiring of Control Circuit Terminals

a) AI Terminals: Weak analog voltage signals are easily interfered, and therefore the shielded cable must be used and the cable length must be less than 20 m, as shown in following figure.



Figure 3.18 Diagram of AI Terminals



Figure 3.19 Wiring of AI Terminals

b) Wiring of DI terminals

Generally, select a shielded cable that is no longer than 20 m. When active drive is adopted, it is necessary to apply filtering in order to prevent the interference to the power supply. It is recommended to use the contact control mode.

SINK Wiring



Figure 3.20 Wiring in SINK Mode

This is one of the most commonly used connection mode. If you use an external power supply, you must remove the jumper bar between +24V and PLC. Anode of the external power needs to be connected to PLC terminal, and cathode needs to be connected to COM terminal.

c) SOURCE Wiring



Figure 3.21 Wiring in SOURCE Mode

This wiring must jump the jumper J12 of PLC to COM, and Connect the + 24V and the COM terminal of the external controller together. If you use an external power supply, the cathode of the power supply must be connected to PLC.

d) Wiring of DO Terminal

When the digital output terminals need to drive the relay, an absorption diode shall be installed around the relay coil. Otherwise, it may cause damage to the 24V DC power supply.

Note: The polarity of the absorption diode must be installed properly. As shown in Figure 3.9, failure to comply will lead to burning the 24V DC power supply whenever the digital output terminal is active.



Figure 3.22 DO Terminal Wiring Diagram

3.7 Major Circuit Terminals Screw Specs and Tightening Torque Standard

Inverter Powers	Terminal Specs	Screw Specs	Torque Standard
0.75-2.2kW	BA5-09-10.0-06	M4	2N.m
4.0-5.5kW	BA5-10-11.0-09	M4	2N.m
7.5-11kW	BA8-09-14.5-01-C	M5	4N.m
15-22kW	BA20-09-20.0-01	M6	8N.m
30-37kW	BA20-03-20.0-01	M6	8N.m
45-55kW	DRTB50-NR-09-CNNT	M8	20N.m
75-90kW	DRTB100-RHC-09-CNNT	M10	35N.m
110-132kW	RD300-01 600V 300A	M10	35N.m
160-200kW	SET420-B(Nut included)	M12	60N.m
220-280kW	SET630(Nut included)	M16	130N.m
315-710kW	SET630(Nut included)	M16	130N.m

Chapter 4 Keyboard and Display 4.1 Operation and Display Interface

Through the operation panel, user may perform such operations such as modifying the function parameters, monitoring the status of inverter, and controlling the operation of inverter (start and stop). Its appearance and function area are shown below:



Figure 4.1 Keyboard Layout



Figure 4.2 Double Display Keyboard Layout

4.2 Keyboard Indicators Description

 \circ RUN: ON indicates that the inverter is in the Operating state, and OFF indicates that it is in the stop state;

- o ALM: Malfunction Indicator. When an error occurs, the indicator turns on. Normally it is off;
- Hz : Unit of frequency, ON indicates the corresponding parameter values of the units;
- A : Unit of current;
- V :Unit of voltage;
- ∘ % : Percentage;
- Rpm: Revolutions Per Minute;

oF/R: Forward/Reverse.

4.3 Keyboard Button Description

Button	Name	Function
ESC	Escape key	Enter the primary menu or exit
ENTER	Confirm Key	Enter the next interface; Confirm the setting of parameters
\wedge	Increment key Increase the parameter number or function code by one unit	
\vee	Decrement key	Decrease the parameter number or function code by one unit
>>	Shift Key	Select the displayed parameters in turn in the stop or Operating state, and shift through each unit when changing the parameters.
RUN	RUN key	Start the inverter.
STOP/RESET	Stop / Reset key	Stop the inverter when it is in the Operating state and reset the inverter when it is in the fault state.
МК	Multi-Function Key	Switch functions according to A4.02

Table 4.1 Keyboard Functions Table

4.4 Viewing and Modifying Function Codes

The operation panel of JT600 series features three-level menu mode: function parameters group (first level of menu), function codes (second level of menu), and function codes modification (third level of menu). The float chart is shown as below:



Figure 4.3 Three-Level Menu Float Chart of Operation Procedure

When changing parameters on the third level menu, you can press "ESC" or "ENTER" to return to the second menu. The difference is that pressing "ENTER" saves the modified parameters while pressing "ESC" does not save them.

For example: the function code C0.03 changed from 12 set to 22.



Figure 4.4 Example of Changing the Parameter Value

4.5 Selecting Menu Mode

JT600 series inverter offers three menu modes to select from. User may set the corresponding bit of the menu mode he/she needs as "1" according to A4.01 and switch using the button "MK". Follow figure 3-4 to switch the menus after setting the function parameters.

Note: Only when A4.02 is set to 0, "MK" button selects menu modes.



Figure 4.5 Menu Switching
Chapter 5 Basic Operation and Test Run 5.1 Quick Adjustment Guidance



Figure 5.1 Quick Adjustment Procedure

5.2 Precautions Before Power-On

Please execute the following steps before power-on.

Items	Contents
	Make sure the power voltage is correct
Check the power voltage	Properly connect the input terminals (R/S/T) of power supply
	Correctly ground inverter and motor
Check the connection between the output terminals of inverter and the motor terminals	Make sure the output terminals(U/V/W) is firmly connected to the motor terminals
Check the connection on inverter's	Please confirm if the control circuit terminals are firmly
control circuit terminals.	connected to other control devices.
Check the status of inverter's control circuit terminals.	Make sure all of the terminals are OFF (Inverter is in an inactive mode)
Load Check	Make sure the motor is in no-load status and unconnected to mechanical system

5.3 Display Status After Power-On

After power-on, the display on the operation panel in normal status is shown as below:

Status	Display	Description
Normal	50.00	Default Display of Digital Setting of 50Hz
Faulty	Err02	Inverter stops working when an error occur and displays the error type

5.4 Motor Control Methods Selection

5.4.1 Selection References of Motor Control Methods

Parameters	Description	Application
Motor	0: Sensorless Vector Control (SVC)	It indicates open-loop vector control, and is applicable to high-performance control applications such as machine tool, centrifuge, wire drawing machine and injection moulding machine. One inverter can operate only one motor.
Control Mode (A0.00)	1: Flux Vector Control (FVC)	It refers to closed-loop vector control. It is applicable to high-accuracy speed control or torque control applications such as high-speed paper making machine, crane and elevator. One inverter can operate only one motor. An encoder must be installed at the motor side, and a PG card matching the encoder must be installed at the inverter side.

5.4.2 Control and Adjustment Flow Chart of V/f and SVC



Figure 5.2 Inverter's Adjustment Sub-Process Flow (SVC Control)



Figure 5.3 Inverter's Adjustment Sub-Process Flow (Vector Control)

5.5 Initialization of Parameters

Restore all of settings to default values. After the initialization, A4.03 is automatically set to 0.

A4.03	Restore Default Settings	Range: 0~2	Default: 0		
1: Restore default settings except motor parameters					

1: Restore default settings except motor parameters

If A4.03 is set to 1, most function codes are restored to the default settings except motor parameters, frequency reference resolution, errors records, accumulated operating time, accumulated power-on time and accumulated power consumption.

2: Clear records

If A4.03 is set to 2, the fault records, accumulated running time , accumulated power-on time and accumulated power consumption are cleared.

5.6 Operation Commands Source Selection

A0.01	Command Source Options	Range: 0~2	Default: 0
0: Operation pan	el control		

Commands are given by pressing keys "RUN,STOP" on the operation panel.

1: Terminal control

Commands are given by means of multifunctional input terminals with functions such as "FWD, REV, JOGF, and JOGR".

2: Communication control

Commands are given from the host computer.

5.7 Frequency Source Selection

A0.03	Main Frequency(X) Source Selection	Range:0~13	Default:4
0			

0: Digital setting (No saving at power failure)

The initial value of the set frequency is the value of A0.04 (Preset frequency). You can change the set frequency by pressing $\Lambda_{\mathcal{N}}$ V on the operation panel (or using the UP/DOWN function of input

terminals). When the inverter is powered on again after power failure, the set frequency reverts to the value of A0.04.

1: Digital setting (save at power failure)

Basic operations are same as "0: Digital setting".

The only difference is that when the inverter is powered on again after power failure, the set frequency is the value memorized at the moment that power goes out.

Note: The hidden parameters set down by A0.06 cleared or unclear 0, factory default is cleared down.

2: AI1 (0–10 V voltage input)

3: AI2 (0-10 V voltage input or 4-20 mA current input, determined by jumper)

4: AI3 (0-10 V voltage input)

The frequency is set by analog input.

5: Pulse setting (X5)

The frequency is set by X5 (high-speed pulse). The signal specification of pulse setting is 9-30 V (voltage range) and 0-100 kHz (frequency range). The corresponding value 100% of pulse setting corresponds to the value of A0.11 (Maximum frequency).

6: Multi-command

In multi-command mode, combinations of different terminal X statuses correspond to different set frequencies. The JT600 supports a maximum of 16 speeds implemented by 16 state combinations of four X terminals (allocated with functions 12 to 15)in Group FC. The multiple references indicate percentages of the value of F0.10(Maximum frequency).

If a terminal X is used for the multi-command function, you will have to adjust settings in group C0, referring to the function explanations for group C0.

7: Simple PLC

When the simple programmable logic controller (PLC) mode is set as the frequency source, the operating frequency of the inverter can be switched over among the 16 frequency references. You can set the holding time and acceleration/deceleration time of the 16 frequency references. For more details, refer to the descriptions of Group D1.

8: PID

The output of PID control is used as the operating frequency. PID control is generally used in on-site closed-loop control, such as constant pressure closed-loop control and constant tension closed-loop control. When applying PID as the frequency source, you need to set parameters of PID function in group D0.

9: Communication setting

The frequency is set by the means of communication. In other conditions, data is given by the host computer through the communication address 0x1000. The data format is -100.00% to 100.00%. 100.00% corresponds to the value of maximum frequency in A0.11.

5.8 Stop Modes Selection

A1.08	Stop Modes	Range:0~1	Default:0	

0: Decelerate to Stop

After the stop command is enabled, the inverter decreases the output frequency according to the deceleration time and stops when the frequency decreases to zero.

1: Coast to Stop

After the stop command is enabled, the inverter immediately stops the output. The motor will coast to stop due to the mechanical inertia.

5.9 Observation of Operation Status via DO and AO

5.9.1 Digital Output DO

JT600 series inverter comes standard with two digital output terminal Y1, Y2 (Y2 which can be used as high-speed pulse output DO), 2 relay outputs R, E, 2 analog outputs AO1, AO2 (can be selected as the current output).

Y2 / DO terminal is re-programmable terminals and can be used as high-speed pulse output terminal (DO). It also can be used as an open-collector terminal (Y2) of digital output.

0: Pulse Output (FMP)

1: Switch Signal Output (FMR)

When DO is set as a pulse output, the maximum frequency of the output pulse is 100kHz. To see more DO-related functions, please refer to Note C2.12.

C2.01	Y1 Output Function Selection	Range:0~45	Default:1
C2.02	Y2 Output Function Selection	Range:0~45	Default:0
C2.03	Relay R Output Function Selection	Range:0~45	Default:2
C2.04	Relay E Output Function Selection	Range:0~45	Default:0

Defined digital output terminal Y1, Y2 and relay R, E functions. When Y2/DO terminal is the high-speed pulse output, configure its settings in C2.12.

5.9.2 Analog Output AO

C2.16	AO1 Offset Coefficient	Range:-100.0~+100.0	Default:0.0
C2.17	AO1 Gain	Range:-10.00~+10.00	Default:1.00

These parameters correct the zero drift of analog output and the output amplitude deviation. They can also be used to customize the desired AO curve.

If "b" represents zero offset, "k" represents the gain, "Y" represents the actual output, and "X" represents the standard output, then the actual output is: Y = kX + b.

The zero offset coefficient 100% of AO1 and AO2 corresponds to 10 V (or 20 mA). The standard output refers to the value corresponding to the analog output of 0 to 10 V (or 0 to 20 mA) with no zero offset or gain adjustment.

For example, if the analog output is used as the operating frequency, and it is expected that the output is 8 V when the frequency is 0 and 3 V at the maximum frequency, the gain shall be set to -0.50, and the zero offset shall be set to 80%.

C2.18	AO2 Offset Coefficient	Range:-100.0~+100.0	Default:0.0
C2.19	AO2 Gain	Range:-10.00~+10.00	Default:1.00

Refer to C2.16 and C2.17.

Chapter 6 Function Parameter List

The symbols in the function code table are described as follow:

"•" : represents the parameter can be modified while the inverter is operating;

"O": represents the parameter cannot be modified while the inverter is operating;

" \diamond ": represents the parameter is the measured value and cannot be modified;

"X" : represents "Factory Parameter", which is subject to the manufacturer only.

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
A0.00	Motor Control Mode	0: Sensor-less Flux Vector Control(SVC) 1: Closed-Loop Vector Control(FVC)	0	0
A0.01	Operation Command Source Selection	0: Keyboard Control 1: Terminal Control 2: Communication Control	0	0
A0.02	Frequency Source Selection	Coperation Relationship Coperation Relationship Coperation Relationship Coperation Relationship Coperation (Relationship) Coperation (Relationship) Coperation (Relationship) determined by ten's digit) S. Switch Detween X and Y S. Switch Detween X and Y Coperation (Relationship) determined by ten's digit) S. Switch Detween X and Y Coperation (Relationship) determined by ten's digit) S. Switch Detween X and Y Coperation (Relationship) determined by ten's digit) S. Switch Detween X and Y Coperation (Relationship) determined by ten's digit)	00	٠
A0.03	Main Frequency(X) Source Selection	0:Digital Setting (don't save at power failure) 1: Digital Setting (save at power failure) 2: AI1 3: AI2 4: AI3 5: Pulse Setting (X5) 6: Multiple Commands 7: Simple PLC 8: PID 9: Communication Setting 10:AI1+AI2 11:AI1-AI2 12:max(AI1,AI2) 13:min(AI1,AI2)	4	0
A0.04	Digital Frequency	0.00 to Maximum Frequency (valid when frequency source is set as digital)	50.00Hz	•
A0.05	The Number of Decimal Places	1: 1 Decimal Places 2: 2 Decimal Places	2	0
A0.06	Save Option of UP/DOWN when Stop	0: not save 1: save	0	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
A0.07	Auxiliary Frequency(Y) Source Selection	Same as A0.03	0	0
A0.08	Selection Range of Auxiliary Frequency Y for X and Y	0:Relative to the Maximum Frequency 1:Relative to the Main Speed	0	•
A0.09	Range of Auxiliary Frequency Y for X and Y	0%~150%	100%	•
A0.10	Frequency Offset of Auxiliary Frequency Source for X and Y Operation	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency (A0.11)	0.00 Hz	•
A0.11	Maximum Frequency	50.00 Hz-320.00 Hz	50.00Hz	0
A0.12	Source of Frequency Upper Limit	0: Set by A0.12 1: AI1 2: AI2 3: AI3 4: Pulse Setting (X5) 5: Communication Setting	0	0
A0.13	Upper Limit of Frequency	Lower Limit of Frequency (A0.14) to Maximum Frequency (A0.11)	50.00 Hz	•
A0.14	Lower Limit of Frequency	0.00 Hz to Upper Limit of Frequency(A0.13)	0.00 Hz	•
A0.15	Frequency Reference for UP/DOWN During Operation	0: Operating Frequency 1: Set Frequency	0	0
A0.16	Carrier Frequency	0.5kHz–16.0 kHz	Model Dependent	•
A0.17	Adjust with Temperature (Carrier Frequency)	0: No 1: Yes	1	•
A0.18	Base Frequency of Acceleration/ Deceleration time	0: Maximum Frequency (A0.11) 1: Set Frequency 2: 100 Hz	0	0
A0.19	Acceleration and Deceleration Time Unit	1:s	1	•
A0.20	Acceleration Time 1	0.00s~65000s	Model Dependent	•
A0.21	Deceleration Time 1	0.00s~65000s	Model Dependent	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
A0.22	Acceleration Time 2	0.00s~65000s	Model Dependent	•
A0.23	Deceleration Time 2	0.00s~65000s	Model Dependent	•
A0.24	Rotation Direction	0: Forward 1: Reverse	0	•
A0.25	Reverse Control	0: Enabled 1: Disabled	0	•
A0.26	Forward/Reverse Rotation Dead time	0.0s~3000.0s	0.0s	•
	Grou	up A1: Start/Stop Control Parameters		
A1.00	Start Mode	0: Direct Start 1: Speed tracking then start 2: DC braking then start	0	•
A1.01	Speed Tracking Mode	0: Start from the frequency at stop 1: Start from zero speed 2: Start from the maximum frequency	0	0
A1.02	Speed of Speed Tracking	1~100	20	•
A1.03	Startup Frequency	0.00Hz~10.00Hz	0.00Hz	•
A1.04	Hold Time of Startup Frequency	0.0s~100.0s	0.0s	0
A1.07	Start-Up Protection	0: No 1: Yes	0	•
A1.08	Stop Mode	0: Decelerate to Stop 1: Coast to Stop	0	•
A1.09	Initial Frequency of DC Braking at Stop	0.00 Hz to maximum frequency	0.00Hz	•
A1.10	Waiting Time of DC Braking at Stop	0.0s~100.0s	0.0s	•
A1.11	DC Braking Current at Stop	0%~100%	0%	•
A1.12	DC Braking Time at Stop	0.0s~100.0s	0.0s	•
A1.13	Use Rate of Braking	0%~100%	100%	•
A1.16	Acceleration / Deceleration Mode	0: Linear Acceleration / Deceleration 1: S-curve Acceleration / Deceleration A 2: S-curve Acceleration / Deceleration B	0	0
A1.17	Time Proportion of the Start Segment of S-curve	0.0%~ (100.0%-A1.18)	30.0%	0
A1.18	Time Proportion of the End Segment of S-curve	0.0%~ (100.0%-A1.17)	30.0%	0
A1.19	Frequency Points Switch Between Acceleration Time 1 and Acceleration Time 2	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	0.00Hz	•
A1.20	Frequency Points Switch Between Deceleration Time 1 and Deceleration Time 2	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	0.00Hz	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
A1.21	Acceleration Time 2	0.00s~65000s	Model Dependent	•
A1.22	Deceleration Time 2	0.00s~65000s	Model Dependent	•
A1.23	Acceleration Time 2	0.00s~65000s	Model Dependent	•
A1.24	Deceleration Time 2	0.00s~65000s	Model	•
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
	Group A2: Auxiliary Parameters			
A2.00	JOG Operating Frequency	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	2.00Hz	•
A2.01	JOG Acceleration Time	0.0s~6500.0s	20.0s	•
A2.02	JOG Deceleration Time	0.0s~6500.0s	20.0s	•
A2.03	Terminal JOG Preferred	0: Disabled 1: Enabled	0	•
A2.04	Jump Frequency 1	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	0.00Hz	•
A2.05	Jump Frequency 2	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	0.00Hz	•
A2.06	Jump Frequency Amplitude	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	0.01Hz	•
A2.07	Jump Frequency During Acceleration /Deceleration	0: Disabled 1: Enabled	0	•
A2.08	Upper Limit Offset of Frequency	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency(A0.11)	0.00 Hz	•
A2.09	Operating Mode (Set frequency is lower than the lower limit of frequency)	0: Run at frequency lower limit 1: Stop 2: Run at zero speed	0	•
A2.10	Accumulated Power-On Time Threshold	0h~65000h	Oh	•
A2.11	Accumulated Operating Time Threshold	0h~65000h	Oh	•
A2.12	Accumulated Operating Time	0h~65535h		\diamond
A2.13	Accumulated Power-On Time	0h~65535h		\diamond
A2.14	Accumulated Power Consumption	0~65535 kWh		\diamond
A2.16	Cooling Fan Control	0: Fan working during operating 1: Fan working continuously	0	•
A2.17	Wakeup Frequency	Dormancy frequency (A2.19) to Maximum Frequency (A0.11)	0.00Hz	•

A2.18	Wakeup Delay Time	0.0s~6500.0s	0.0s	•
A2.19	Dormancy Frequency	0.00Hz to Wakeup Frequency (A2.17)	0.00Hz	•
A2.20	Dormancy Delay Time	0.0s~6500.0s	0.0s	•
		Group A3: Protection Parameters		
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
A3.00	Selection for Fault Protection Actions 1	Ten Thousands (Communication Error, Err16) Thousands(External Parts Error, Err15) Hundreds(Power Output Phase Loss, Err13) Tens (Power Input Phase Loss, Err12) Units (Motor Overload, Err11) 0: Coast to Stop 1: Stop (Stop Mode) 2: Continue to Run	00000	•
A3.01	Selection for Fault Protection Actions 2	Ten Thousands: (Accumulated Operating Time Reached) Thousands: Reserved Hundreds: Reserved Tens (EEPROM Read -Write Error, Err21) 0: Coast to stop 1: Stop (Stop Mode) Unints (Encoder Error, Err20) 0: Coast to Stop	00000	•
A3.02	Selection for Fault Protection Actions 3	Ten Thousands (PID Feedback Lost during Operating, Err31) 0: Coast to Stop 1: Stop (Stop Mode) 2: Continue to Run Teres (User Defined Fault 1, Err28) 0: Coast to Stop 1: Stop (Stop Mode) 2: Continue to Run Units (User-Defined Fault 1, Err28) 0: Coast to Stop 1: Stop (Stop Mode) 2: Continue to Run Units (User-Defined Fault 1, Err27) 0: Coast to Stop 1: Stop (Stop Mode) 2: Continue to Run	00000	•
A3.03	Selection for Fault Protection Actions 4	Units (Large Speed Deviation,Err42) (): Coast to Stop 1: Stop (Stop Mode) 2: Continue to Run	00000	•
A3.04	Reserved			

A3.05	Selection for Operating Frequency When Error Occurs	0:Current Operating Frequency 1: Set Frequency 2: Frequency Upper Limit 3: Frequency Lower Limit 4: Backup Frequency Upon Faults	0	•
A3.06	Backup Frequency Upon Faults	60.0%~100.0% 100.0%: Maximum Frequency (A0.11)	100.0%	•
A3.07	Auto Reset times	0~20	0	•
A3.08	Selection of DO action during auto reset	0: Not act 1: Act	0	•
A3.09	Time Interval of Fault Auto Reset	0.1s~100.0s	1.0s	•
A3.10	Motor Overload Protection	0: Disabled 1: Enabled	1	•
A3.11	Motor Overload Protection Gain	0.20~10.00	1.00	•
A3.12	Motor Overload Pre-warning Coefficient	50%~100%	80%	•
A3.13	Fast overcurrent protection	0: Disabled 1: Enabled	1	•
A3.14	Frequency gain for voltage limit	0~100	0	•
A3.15	Voltage limit	120%~150% (V/F and SVC)	130%	•
A3.16	Current limit gain	0~100	0	•
A3.17	Current limit level	50%~200%	150%	•
A3.18	Detection of short-circuit to ground upon power-on	0: Disabled 1: Enabled	1	•
A3.19	Input phase Loss / pre-charge relay Protection	Units: Input Phase Loss Protection Tens: pre-charge relay Protection 0: Disabled 1: Enabled	11	•
A3.20	Output Phase Loss Protection	0: Disabled 1: Enabled	1	•
A3.21	Motor temperature sensor type	0: no 1: PT100 2: PT1000	0	•
A3.22	Motor over-heat protection value	0°C-200°C	110	•
A3.23	Motor over-heat protection alarm value	0°℃-200°℃	90	•
A3.24	Motor temperature adjustment	-200~200	0	•
A3.25	Action Selection at Instantaneous Power Failure	 0: Invalid 1: PI Automatic Voltage Stabilization 2: Decelerate till stop 	0	•
A3.26	Voltage Check at Instantaneous Power	80.0%~100% (Standard Bus Voltage)	90.0%	•
A3.27	Voltage Recovery Check Time at Instantaneous Power Failure	0.00s~100.00s	0.50s	•

A3.28	Voltage Check at Instantaneous Power	60%~100.0% (Standard Bus Voltage)	80.0%	•
	Recovery Protection upon Load	0. Involid		
A3.29	Becoming 0	1: Valid	0	•
A3.30	Detection Level of Load Becoming 0	0.0~100.0%	10.0%	•
A3.31	Detection Time of Load Becoming 0	0.0~60.0s	1.0s	•
A3.32	Over-speed Detection Value	0.0%~50.0% (Maximum Frequency)	20.0%	•
A3.33	Over-speed Detection Time	0.0s~60.0s	1.0s	•
A3.34	Detection Value of Large Speed Deviation	0.0%~50.0% (Maximum Frequency)	20.0%	•
A3.35	Detection Time of Large Speed Deviation	0.0s~60.0s	5.0s	•
		Group A4:User parameter group		
A4.00	User Password	0-65535	0	•
A4.01	Personalized Menu Display Options	0: No Display 1: Display	0	•
A4.02	MK Key Function Selection	0: Menu Switch 1:Switch Between Operation Panel Control and Remote Command Control (Terminals or Communication) 2:Switch Between Forward and Reverse Rotation 3: Forward JOG 4: Reverse JOG	0	Ο
A4.03	Restore Default Settings	0: No Operation 1:Restore factory settings except motor parameters 2: Clear records	0	0
A4.04	Parameter Modification Property	0: Modifiable 1: Non-modifiable	0	•
A4.05	STOP/RESET function	0: Valid when A0.01=0	1	•
A4.06	LED Display Parameters in Operation 1	11: vand in all control mode 0000–FFFF Bit00: Operating Frequency (Hz) Bit01: Set Frequency (Hz) Bit02: Output Current (A) Bit03: Output Voltage (V) Bit04:Output Power (kW) Bit05: Output Torque (%) Bit06: Bus Voltage (V) Bit07: Terminal X Input Status 1 Bit08: Reserved Bit09: Digital Output Status Bit10:AII Voltage (V) Bit11: AI2 Voltage (V) Bit12: AI3 Voltage (V) Bit13:Pulse Input Frequency(kHz) Bit14: PID Setting	1F	•

A4.07	LED Display Operating Parameters 2	0000-FFFF Bit00: PID Output Bit01: Load Speed Display Bit02: Main Frequency Display(Hz) Bit03: Auxiliary Frequency Display Bit04: Feedback Speed Bit05: Count Value Bit06: Length Value Bit07: Linear speed Bit08: Current Power-On Time(Hour) Bit09: Current Operating Time (Min) Bit11:Overload Count Bit11:Output Current Percentage(%) Bit12:Remaining Operating Time Bit13: PLC Phase	0	•
A4.08	LED Display Parameters at Stop	Bit14:Communication Setting Value 0000–FFFF Bit00: Set Frequency (Hz) Bit01: Bus Voltage (V) Bit02: Terminal X Input Status Bit03: Digital Output Status Bit04: AII Voltage (V) Bit05: AI2 Voltage (V) Bit05: AI2 Voltage (V) Bit07: Count Value Bit08: Length Value Bit09: PLC Phase Bit10: Load Speed Bit11: PID Setting Bit12: Pulse Setting Frequency (kHz)	33	•
A4.09	Number of Decimal Places for Load Speed Display	0: 0 Decimal Places 1: 1 Decimal Place 2: 2 Decimal Places 3: 3 Decimal Places	1	•
A4.10	Display Coefficient of Load Speed	0.0001~6.5000	3.0000	•
	Gro	up A5: Communication Parameters		
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
A5.00	Baud Rate	0: 300BPS 1: 600BPS 2: 1200BPS 3: 2400BPS 4: 4800BPS 5: 9600BPS 6: 19200BPS 7: 38400BPS	5	•
A5.01	Data Format	0: No Check, Data Format <8,N,2> 1: Even Parity Check, Data Format <8,E,1> 2: Upper Limit, Data Format <8,N,1>	0	•
A5.02	Local Address	1~247 0: Broadcast Address	1	•
A5.03	Response Delay	0ms~20ms	2	٠
A5.04	Communication Timeout	0.0(Invalid) ,0.1s~60.0s	0.0	•

A5.05	Modbus Protocol Selection Data Format	Units: MODBUS 0:Non-Standard Modbus Protocol 1:Standard Modbus Protocol	1	•
A5.06	Current Resolution of Communication Reading	0:0.01A 1:0.1A	0	•
	Grou	p AE: AI/AO Correction Parameters		
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
AE.00	AI1 Measured Voltage 1	0.500V~4.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.01	AI1 Displayed Voltage 1	0.500V~4.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.02	AI1 Measured Voltage 2	6.000V~9.999V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.03	AI1 Displayed Voltage 2	6.000V~9.999V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.04	AI2 Measured Voltage 1	0.000V~5.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.05	AI2 Displayed Voltage 1	0.000V~5.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.06	AI2 Measured Voltage 2	5.000V~10.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.07	AI2 Displayed Voltage 2	5.000V~10.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.08	AI3 Measured Voltage 1	0.000V~5.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.09	AI3 Displayed Voltage 1	0.000V~5.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.10	AI3 Measured Voltage 2	5.000V~10.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.11	AI3 Displayed Voltage 2	5.000V~10.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.12	AO1 Target Voltage 1	0.000V~5.000V	Factory	•
AE.13	AO1 Measured Voltage 1	0.000V~5.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.14	AO1 Target Voltage 2	5.000V~10.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.15	AO1 Measured Voltage 2	5.000V~10.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.16	AO2 Target Voltage 1	0.000V~5.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.17	AO2 Measured Voltage 1	0.000V~5.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.18	AO2 Target Voltage 2	5.000V~10.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.19	AO2 Measured Voltage 2	5.000V~10.000V	Factory Corrected	•
AE.20	AI1 Filtering Dead Zone	0~255	0	•
AE.21	AI2 Filtering Dead Zone	0~255	0	•
AE.22	AI3 Filtering Dead Zone	0~255	66	•

Group B0: Motor Parameters				
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
B0.00	Motor Rated Power	0.1kW~1000.0kW	Model Dependent	0
B0.01	Motor Rated Voltage	1V~2000V	Model Dependent	0
B0.02	Motor Rated Current	$0.01 \sim 655.35 \text{ A}$ (Inverter Power $\leq 55 \text{ kW}$) $0.1 \sim 6553.5 \text{ A}$ (Inverter Power $> 55 \text{ kW}$)	Model Dependent	0
B0.03	Motor Rated Frequency	0.01 Hz to Maximum Frequency	Model Dependent	0
B0.04	Motor Rated Speed	1~65535 RPM	Model Dependent	0
B0.05	Motor Stator Resistance	0.001~65.535 Ω	Auto-tuning dependent	0
B0.06	D-axis inductance	0.01~655.35	Auto-tuning dependent	0
B0.07	Q-axis inductance	0.01~655.35	Auto-tuning dependent	0
B0.08	reserved			
B0.09	Counter electromotive force of synchronous motor	0~65535	Auto-tuning dependent	0
B0.10	reserved			
B0.11	Encoder type	0: ABZ incremental encoder 1: UVW incremental encoder 2: Resolver 4: Wire-saving UVW encoder	0	0
B0.12	A/B phase sequence of ABZ incremental encoder	0: Forward 1: Reserve	0	0
B0.13	Encoder Pulses per Revolution	1~65535	1024	0
B0.14	Encoder installation angle	0-359.9	0	0
B0.15	UVW phase sequence of UVW encoder	0: Forward 1: Reserve	0	0
B0.16	UVW Encoder installation angle	0~359.9	0	0
B0.17	Number of pole pairs of resolver	1~65535	1	0
B0.18	Number of pole pairs of UVW encoder	1~65535	4	0
B0.19	Encoder wire-break fault Detection time	0~10.0S	0	0
B0.30	Auto-tuning selection	00: No operation1: Synchronous auto-tuning with load2: Synchronous auto-tuning with no-load	0	0
	Gr	oup B1: Vector Control Parameters		
B1.00	Speed Loop Proportion Gain 1	1~100	30	•
B1.01	Speed Loop Integral Time 1	0.01s~10.00s	0.50s	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
B1.02	Switchover frequency 1	0.00~B1.05	5.00Hz	٠
B1.03	Speed Loop Proportion Gain 2	1~100	30	٠
B1.04	Speed Loop Integral Time 2	0.01s~10.00s	0.50s	•
B1.05	Switchover frequency 2	0.00~A0.11	10.00Hz	•
B1.06	Slip Gain of Vector Control	50%~200%	100%	•
B1.07	Time Constant of Speed Loop Filter	0.000s~0.100s	0.000s	•
B1.08	Over excitation Gain of Vector Control	0~200	64	•
B1.09	Upper Limit of Torque Source in Speed Control Mode	0: B1.10 1: AI1 2: AI2 3: AI3 4: Pulse Setting (X5) 5:Communication Setting 6: MIN(AI1,AI2) 7: MAX(AI1,AI2)	0	•
B1.10	Digital Setting of Torque Upper Limit in Speed Control Mode	0.0%~200.0%	150.0%	•
B1.11	Upper Limit of Torque Source in Speed Control Mode (regenerative)	0: B1.12 1: AI1 2: AI2 3: AI3 4: Pulse Setting (X5) 5:Communication Setting 6: MIN(AI1,AI2) 7: MAX(AI1,AI2)	0	•
B1.12	Digital Setting of Torque Upper Limit in Speed Control Mode (regenerative)	0.0%~200.0%	150.0%	•
	G	roup B2: Current loop Parameters		
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
B2.00	Excitation adjustment proportional gain	0~60000	Auto-tuning dependent	•
B2.01	Excitation adjustment Integral gain	0~60000	Auto-tuning dependent	•
B2.02	Torque adjustment Proportional gain	0~60000	Auto-tuning dependent	•
B2.03	Torque adjustment proportional gain	0~60000	Auto-tuning dependent	•
B2.05	flux weakening mode of synchronous motor	0~2	1	•
B2.06	flux weakening gain of synchronous motor	1~50	5	•
B2.07	Limit current of weakening	1~300	50	•

Group B3: Torque Control Parameters				
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
B3.00	Speed/Torque Control Selection	0: Speed Control 1: Torque Control	0	0
B3.01	Torque setting source selection	0: B3.03 1: AI1 2: AI2 3: AI3 4: Pulse Setting (X5) 5:Communication Setting 6: MIN(AI1,AI2) 7: MAX(AI1,AI2)	0	0
B3.02	Braking torque setting source selection	0: B3.03 1: AI1 2: AI2 3: AI3 4: Pulse Setting (X5) 5:Communication Setting	0	0
B3.03	Torque digital setting	0%~200%	150	•
B3.04	Braking Torque digital setting	0%~200%	150	•
B3.05	Upper Limit of Forward frequency in Torque Control Mode	0.00~A0.11	50.00	•
B3.06	Upper Limit of Reserve frequency in Torque Control Mode	0.00~A0.11	50.00	•
B3.07	Torque control Acceleration Time	0.00~650.00	0.00	•
B3.08	Torque control Deceleration Time	0.00~650.00	0.00	•

Group C0: Input Terminals				
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
C0.00	X1 Function Selection	0: No Function	1	0
C0.01	X2 Function Selection	1: Forward RUN (FWD)	4	0
C0.02	X3 Function Selection	2: Reverse RUN (REV) 2: Three Wire Control	9	0
C0.03	X4 Function Selection	4: Forward IOG (FIOG)	12	0
C0.03	X4 Function Selection X5 Function Selection	 4: Forward JOG (FJOG) 5: Reverse JOG (RJOG) 6: Terminal UP 7: Terminal DOWN 8: Coasting to Stop 9: Fault Reset (RESET) 10: Open (NO) Input of External Fault 12: Multi-Command Terminal 1 13: Multi-Command terminal 2 14: Multi-Command terminal 3 15: Multi-Command terminal 4 16: Terminal 1 for Acceleration/Deceleration Time Selection 17: Terminal 2 for Acceleration/Deceleration Time Selection 18: Frequency Source Switch 19: UP and DOWN Settings Clear 20: Switch to keyboard control 21: Acceleration /Deceleration Prohibition 22: PID Pause 23: PLC Status Reset 24: Swing Frequency Pause 25: Counter Input 26: Counter Reset 27: Length Count Input 28: Length Reset 29: Torque Control Prohibition 30: Pulse Input (Enabled Only for X5) 32: Immediate DC Braking 33: Closed (NC) Input of External Fault 34: Frequency Modification Enabling 35: Reverse PID Direction 36: External STOP Terminal 1 37: Switch Over Terminals by Command Source 38: PID Integral Pause 39: Switch between main frequency source X and digital Frequency 40: Switch between main frequency source X and digital freq. 41: PID Parameters Switch 42: User-Defined Fault 1 43: User-Defined Fault 2 44: Speed Control / Torque Control Switch 45:Emergency Stop 46: External STOP Terminal 2 47: Deceleration DC Braking 48: Current Operating Time Clear 	12	0

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
C0.10	Terminal X Filter Time	0.000s~1.000s	0.010s	٠
C0.11	X1 delay	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0	٠
C0.12	X2 delay	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0	٠
C0.13	X3 delay	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0	٠
C0.21	Terminal X Valid Mode Selection	0: High Level Valid 1: Low Level Valid Units:X1 Tens:X2 Hundreds:X3 Thousands:X4 Ten thousands:X5	00000	0
C0.23	Terminal Command Mode	0: Two-Wire Mode 1 1: Two-Wire Mode 2 2: Three-Wire Mode 1 3: Three-Wire Mode 2	0	0
C0.24	Terminal UP/DOWN Rate of Change	0.01Hz/s~65.535 Hz/s	1.00Hz/s	•
		Group C1: Analog input function		
C1.02	AI1 Filter Time	0.00s~10.00s	0.10s	•
C1.03	AI2 Filter Time	0.00s~10.00s	0.10s	٠
C1.04	AI3 Filter Time	0.00s~10.00s	0.10s	٠
C1.05	AI Curve 1 Minimum Input	0.00V~C1.07	0.20V	•
C1.06	Corresponding Setting of AI Curve 1 Minimum Input	-100.0%~+100.0%	0.0%	•
C1.07	AI Curve 1 Maximum Input	C1.05~+10.00V	10.00V	•
C1.08	Corresponding Setting of AI Curve 1 Maximum Input	-100.0%~+100.0%	100.0%	•
C1.09	AI Curve 2 Minimum Input	0.00V~C1.11	0.20V	•
C1.10	Corresponding Setting of AI Curve 2 Minimum Input	-100.0%~+100.0%	0.0%	•
C1.11	AI Curve 2 Maximum Input	C1.09~+10.00V	10.00V	٠
C1.12	Corresponding Setting of AI Curve 2 Maximum Input	-100.0%~+100.0%	100.0%	•
C1.13	AI Curve 3 Minimum Input	0.00V~C1.15	0.20V	•
C1.14	Corresponding Setting of AI Curve 3 Minimum Input	-100.0%~+100.0%	0.0%	•
C1.15	AI Curve 3 Maximum Input	C1.13~+10.00V	10.00V	•
C1.16	Corresponding Setting of AI Curve 3 Maximum Input	-100.0%~+100.0%	100.0%	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
C1.33	Jump Point of AI1 Input Setting	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
C1.34	Jump Amplitude of AI1 Input Setting	0.0%~100.0%	0.5%	•
C1.35	Jump Point of AI2 Input Setting	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
C1.36	Jump Amplitude of AI2 Input Setting	0.0%~100.0%	0.5%	•
C1.37	Jump Point of AI3 Input Setting	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
C1.38	Jump Amplitude of AI3 Input Setting	0.0%~100.0%	0.5%	•
		Group C2: Output Terminals		
C2.00	Y2/DO Terminal Output Mode	0:Pulse Output (DO) 1:Switch Signal Output (Y2)	1	•
C2.01	Y1 Output Function Selection	0: No Output 1: Inverter Running 2: Output Errors (Stop)	1	•
C2.02	Y2 Output Function Selection	4: Frequency Reached	0	•
C2.03	Relay R Output Function Selection	5: Zero-Speed (No Output at Stop) 8: Set count value reached	2	•
C2.04	Relay E Output Function Selection	 10: Length Reached 11: PLC Cycle Complete 12: Accumulated Operating Time Reached 13: Frequency Limited 14: Torque Limited 15: Ready for RUN 16: Al1 > Al2 17: Frequency Upper Limit Reached 18: Frequency Lower Limit Reached 20: Communication Setting 23: Zero-Speed Operating 2 24: Accumulated Power-On Time Reached 25: Frequency Level Detection FDT2 26: Frequency 1 Reached 27: Frequency 2 Reached 28: Current 1 Reached 29: Current 2 Reached 30: Timing Reached 31: Al1 Input Limit Exceeded 32: Load Becoming 0 33: Reverse Operation 35: Module Temperature Reached 36: Output Current Limit Exceeded 37: Frequency Lower Limit Reached 38: Alarm Output 39: Motor Overheat Warning 41: Analog Levels: ADT1 42: Analog Levels: ADT2 44:X1 Status 45:X2 Status 	0	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
C2.06	Y1 delay time	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0	•
C2.07	Y2 delay time	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0	•
C2.08	RELAY 1 delay time	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0	•
C2.09	RELAY 2 delay time	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0	•
C2.11	DO Valid Mode Selection	0: Positive Logic 1: Negative Logic B. B. B. B. B. B. Thousands: E Hundreds: R Tens: Y2 Units: Y1	0000	•
C2.13	AO1 Output Function Selection	0: Operating Frequency 1: Set Frequency	0	•
C2.14	AO2 Output Function Selection	2: Output Current 3: Output Torque (Absolute Value) 4: Output Power 5: Output Voltage 6: Pulse Input 7: AI1 8: AI2 9: AI3 10: Length 11: Count Value 12: Communication Setting 13: Motor Rotational Speed 14: Output Current 15: Output Voltage	1	•
C2.16	AO1 Offset Coefficient	-100.0%~+100.0%	0.0%	•
C2.17	AO1 Gain	-10.00~+10.00	1.00	•
C2.18	AO2 Offset Coefficient	-100.0%~+100.0%	0.0%	•
C2.19	AO2 Gain	-10.00~+10.00	1.00	•
		Group C4: Auxiliary Parameters		
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
C4.00	Frequency Detection Value (FDT1)	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	50.00Hz	•
C4.01	Frequency Detection Hysteresis(FDT 1)	0.0%~100.0% (C4.00)	5.0%	•
C4.02	Detection Range of Frequency Reached	0.0%~100.0 (Maximum Frequency)	0.0%	•
C4.03	Frequency Detection Value (FDT2)	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	50.00Hz	•
C4.04	Frequency Detection Hysteresis(FDT2)	0.0%~100.0% (C4.00)	5.0%	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
C4.05	Any Frequency Reaching Detection Value 1	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	50.00Hz	•
C4.06	Any Frequency Reaching Detection Amplitude 1	0.0%~100.0% (Maximum Frequency)	0.0%	•
C4.07	Any Frequency Reaching Detection Value 2	0.00 Hz to Maximum Frequency	50.00Hz	•
C4.08	Any Frequency Reaching Detection Amplitude 2	0.0%~100.0% (Maximum Frequency)	0.0%	•
C4.09	Zero Current Detection Level	0.0%~300.0% 100.0% corresponds to rated motor current.	5.0%	•
C4.10	Zero Current Detection Delay Time	0.01s~600.00s	0.10s	•
C4.11	Output Over current Threshold	0.0% (No Detection) 0.1%–300.0% (Rated Motor Current)	200.0%	•
C4.12	Output Over current Detection Delay Time	0.00s~600.00s	0.00s	•
C4.13	Any Current Reaching 1	0.0%-300.0% (Rated Motor Current)	100.0%	•
C4.14	Any Current Reaching 1 Amplitude	0.0%~300.0%(Rated Motor Current)	0.0%	•
C4.15	Any Current Reaching2	0.0%~300.0%(Rated Motor Current)	100.0%	•
C4.16	Any Current Reaching 2 Amplitude	0.0%~300.0%(Rated Motor Current)	0.0%	•
C4.17	Timing Function	0: Disabled 1: Enabled	0	•
C4.18	Timer Selection of Operating Time	0:C4.19 1:AI1 2:AI2 3:AI3(Analog input corresponds to C4.19)	0	•
C4.19	Timing Duration	0.0 Min~6500.0 Min	0.0 Min	•
C4.20	Lower Limit of AI1 Input Voltage Protection	0.00V~C4.21	3.10V	•
C4.21	Upper Limit of AI1 Input Voltage Protection	C4.20~10.00V	6.80V	•
C4.22	Module Temperature Threshold	0°C~100°C	75℃	•
C4.23	Current Operating Time Reached	0.0Min~6500.0Min	0.0Min	•
	G	roup D0: PID Function Parameters		
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
D0.00	PID Setting Source	0: D0.01 1: AI1 2: AI2 3: AI3 4: Pulse Setting (DI5) 5: Communication Setting 6: Multi-Command	0	•
D0.01	PID Digital Setting	0.0%~100.0%	50.0%	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
D0.02	PID Feedback Source	0:AI1 1:AI2 2: AI3 3: AI1-AI2 4: Pulse setting (X5) 5: Communication Setting 6: AI1 + AI2 7:MAX (AI1, AI2) 8:MIN (AI1, AI2)	0	•
D0.03	PID Direction	0: Forward 1: Reverse	0	•
D0.04	PID Feedback Range	0~65535	1000	•
D0.05	Proportional Gain Kp1	0.0~100.0	20.0	•
D0.06	Integral Time Ti1	0.01s~10.00s	2.00s	•
D0.07	Differential Time Td1	0.000s~10.000s	0.000s	•
D0.08	Reverse Cut-off Frequency of PID	0.00 to Maximum Frequency	0.00Hz	•
D0.09	PID Deviation Limit	0.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D0.10	PID Differential Limit	0.00%~100.00%	0.10%	•
D0.11	PID Set Time of Change	0.00~650.00s	0.00s	•
D0.12	PID Feedback Filter Time	0.00~60.00s	0.00s	•
D0.13	PID Output Filter Time	0.00~60.00s	0.00s	•
D0.15	Proportional Gain Kp2	0.0~100.0	20.0	•
D0.16	Integral Time Ti2	0.01s~10.00s	2.00s	•
D0.17	Differential Time Td2	0.000s~10.000s	0.000s	•
D0.18	PID Parameter Switch Condition	0: No Switch 1: Switch via Terminal X 2: Automatic Switch Based on Deviation	0	•
D0.19	PID Parameter Switch Deviation 1	0.0%~D0.20	20.0%	•
D0.20	PID Parameter Switch Deviation 2	D0.19~100.0%	80.0%	•
D0.21	PID Initial Value	0.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D0.22	Hold Time of PID Initial Value	0.00~650.00s	0.00s	•
D0.23	Maximum Value of Two PID Outputs Deviation in Forward Direction	0.00%~100.00%	1.00%	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
D0.24	Maximum Value of Two PID Outputs Deviation in Reverse Direction	0.00%~100.00%	1.00%	•
D0.25	PID Integral Property	Tens(Whether to stop integral operation when the output reaches the limit) 0: Continue the operation 1: Stop the operation Units (Integral Separated) 0: Invalid 1: Valid	00	•
D0.26	Detection Value of PID Feedback Loss	0.0%: No Judging Feedback Loss 0.1%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D0.27	Detection Time of PID Feedback Loss	0.0s~20.0s	0.0s	•
D0.28	PID Operation at Stop	0: No PID Operation at Stop 1: PID Operation at Stop	0	•
	Group D1:	Multi-Reference and Simple PLC Function		
D1.00	Reference 0	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.01	Reference 1	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.02	Reference 2	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.03	Reference 3	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.04	Reference 4	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.05	Reference 5	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.06	Reference 6	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.07	Reference 7	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.08	Reference 8	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.09	Reference 9	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.10	Reference 10	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.11	Reference 11	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.12	Reference 12	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.13	Reference 13	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.14	Reference 14	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.15	Reference 15	-100.0%~100.0%	0.0%	•
D1.16	Simple PLC Operation Mode	0: Stop after one cycle 1: Keep the final values after one cycle 2: Repeat	0	•
D1.17	Simple PLC Saving Options	Tens (Save upon Stop) 0: No 1: Yes	00	•

Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
D1.18	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 0	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.19	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 0	0~3	0	•
D1.20	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 1	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.21	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 1	0~3	0	•
D1.22	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 2	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.23	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 2	0~3	0	•
D1.24	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 3	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.25	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 3	0~3	0	•
D1.26	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 4	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.27	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 4	0~3	0	•
D1.28	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 5	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.29	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 5	0~3	0	•
D1.30	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 6	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.31	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 6	0~3	0	•
D1.32	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 7	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.33	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 7	0~3	0	•
D1.34	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 8	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.35	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 8	0~3	0	•
D1.36	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 9	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.37	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 9	0~3	0	•
D1.38	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 10	0.0s(h)~6500.0s(h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.39	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of	0~3	0	•

	Simple PLC Reference 10			
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
D1.40	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 11	0.0s (h) ~6500.0s (h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.41	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 11	0~3	0	•
D1.42	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 12	0.0s (h) ~6500.0s (h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.43	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 12	0~3	0	•
D1.44	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 13	0.0s (h) ~6500.0s (h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.45	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 13	0~3	0	•
D1.46	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 14	0.0s (h) ~6500.0s (h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.47	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 14	0~3	0	•
D1.48	Operating Time of Simple PLC Reference 15	0.0s (h) ~6500.0s (h)	0.0s (h)	•
D1.49	Acceleration / Deceleration Time of Simple PLC Reference 15	0~3	0	•
D1.50	Time unit of simple PLC running	0: s 1: h	0	•
D1.51	Reference 0 source	1: AI1 2: AI2 3: AI3 4: Pulse setting 5: PID 6: Set by preset frequency (A0.04), modified via terminal UP/DOWN	0	•

	Grou	p U0: Fault and Protection Parameters		
Function Codes	Parameter Name	Range of Settings	Default	Property
U0.00	1st fault type	0: No Error 1: Reserved	_	\diamond
U0.01	2nd fault type	2:Over-current during Acceleration 3:Over-current during Deceleration	_	\diamond
U0.02	3rd (latest) fault type	4: Over-current at a Constant Speed 5: Over-voltage during Acceleration 6: Over-voltage during Deceleration 7: Over-voltage at a Constant Speed 8:Buffer Resistor Overload 9: Under-voltage 10: Inverter Overload 11: Motor Overload 12:Power Input Phase Loss 13: Power Output Phase Loss 13: Power Output Phase Loss 14: Module Overheated 15: External Parts Error 16: Communication Errors 17: pre-charge relay Fault 18: Current Detection Errors 19: Motor Auto-tuning Errors 20: Encoder/PG Card Errors 21: EEPROM Read-Write Errors 22: Inverter Hardware Errors 23: Motor Short to Ground 24: Reserved 25: Reserved 27: User-Defined Fault 1 28: User-Defined Fault 2 29:Accumulated Power-On Time Reached 30: Load Drop 31:PID Feedback Lost during Operating 40: Fault Current Limit Over-time 42: Large Speed Deviation 43: Motor Over-speed 51: Faulty Initial Position		\$
U0.03	Frequency upon 3rd Error	_	—	\diamond
U0.04	Current upon 3rd Error	_	—	\diamond
U0.05	Bus Voltage upon 3rd Error	_	—	\diamond
U0.06	Input Terminal Status upon 3rd Error	_	—	\diamond
U0.07	Inverter Temperature upon 3rd Error	-	_	\diamond
U0.08	Inverter Status upon 3rd Error	-	_	\diamond
U0.09	Power-on Time upon 3rd Error	_	_	\diamond
U0.10	Operating Time upon 3rd Error	_	_	\diamond

U0.13	Frequency upon 2nd Error	_	—	\diamond
U0.14	Current upon 2nd Error	—	_	\diamond
U0.15	Bus Voltage upon 2nd Error	_		\diamond
U0.16	Input Terminal Status upon 2nd Error	—	_	\diamond
U0.17	Inverter Temperature upon 2nd Error	_	_	\diamond
U0.18	Inverter Status upon 2nd Error	_	_	\diamond
U0.19	Power-on Time upon 2nd Error	_		\diamond
U0.20	Operating Time upon 2nd Error	_		\diamond
U0.23	Frequency upon 1st Error	_		\diamond
U0.24	Current upon 1st Error	—	_	\diamond
U0.25	Bus Voltage upon 1st Error	—	_	\diamond
U0.26	Input Terminal Status upon 1st Error	_		\diamond
U0.27	Inverter Temperature upon 1st Error	_		\diamond
U0.28	Inverter Status upon 1st Error	_		\diamond
U0.29	Power-on Time upon 1st Error	_	-	\diamond
U0.30	Operating Time upon 1st Error	_	_	\diamond

Function Code	Parameter Name	Minimum Unit
	Group H0: Standard Monitoring Parameters	
U1.00	Operating Frequency (Hz)	0.01Hz
U1.01	Set Frequency (Hz)	0.01Hz
U1.02	Output Current(A)	0.01A
U1.03	Output Voltage (V)	1V
U1.04	Output Power (kW)	0.1kW
U1.05	Output Torque (%)	0.1%
U1.06	Bus Voltage (V)	0.1V
U1.07	X Input Status1	1
U1.08	X Input Status 2	1
U1.09	DO Output State	1
U1.10	AI1 Voltage (V)	0.01V
U1.11	AI2 Voltage (V)	0.01V
U1.12	AI3 Voltage (V)	0.01V
U1.13	Input Pulse Frequency (kHz)	0.01kHz
U1.14	PID Setting	1
U1.15	PID Feedback	1
U1.16	PID Output	1
U1.17	Load Speed	1
U1.18	Main Frequency	0.01Hz
U1.19	Auxiliary Frequency	0.01Hz
U1.20	Feedback Speed	0.1Hz
U1.21	Count Value	1
U1.22	Length Value	1
U1.23	Linear Speed	1m/Min
U1.24	Accumulated Power-On Time	1Min
U1.25	Accumulated Operating Time	0.1Min
U1.26	Motor Overload Count	0.1%
U1.27	Motor Current Percentage	0.1%
U1.28	Remaining Operating Time	0.1Min
U1.29	PLC Phase	1
U1.30	Communication Setting Value	0.01%
U1.31	AI1 Voltage Before Correction	0.01V
U1.32	AI2 Voltage Before correction	0.01V
U1.33	AI3 Voltage Before Correction	0.01V
U1.34	Inverter Overload Count	0.1%
U1.35	Inverter Current Percentage	0.1%

Chapter 7 Description of Parameters

Group A0: Basic Function

Holo Holo Contor Hode Hangelo 2

0: Sensorless flux vector control (SFVC)

It indicates open-loop vector control, and is applicable to high-performance control applications such as machine tool, centrifuge, wire drawing machine and injection moulding machine. One inverter can operate only one motor.

1: Closed-loop vector control (CLVC)

It is applicable to high-accuracy speed control or torque control applications such as high-speed paper making machine, crane and elevator. One inverter can operate only one motor. An encoder must be installed at the motor side, and a PG card matching the encoder must be installed at the inverter side.

2: Voltage/Frequency (V/F) control

It is applicable to applications with low load requirements or applications where one inverter operates multiple motors, such as fan and pump.

A0.01	Command source options	Range:0~2	Default:0

0: Operation panel control

Commands are given by pressing keys "RUN,STOP" on the operation panel.

1: Terminal control

Commands are given by means of multifunctional input terminals with functions such as "FWD, REV, JOGF, and JOGR".

2: Communication control

Commands are given from host computer.

A0.02	Frequency source selection	Range:0~34	Default:0
Ten's digit	Unit's digit		
0: X+Y 1: X-Y 2:Maximum	0: Main frequency source 1:Main frequency (X) and auxil relationship determined by ten's 2: Switch over between main fre 3:Switch over between main fre	iary frequency(Y) operat digit) equency and auxiliary frequency and main frequency	ion(operation uency cy and auxiliary
3: Minimum	frequency operation" 4: Switch over between auxiliary frequency and "main frequency and auxiliary frequency operation"		

It is used to select the frequency setting channel. If the frequency source involves X and Y operation, you can set the frequency offset in A0.10 for superposition to the X and Y operation result, flexibly satisfying various requirements.

A0.03	Main frequency(X) source selection	Range:0~13	Default:4

0: Digital setting (non-retentive at power failure)

The initial value of the set frequency is the value of A0.04 (Preset frequency). You can change the set frequency by pressing Λ_{∞} V on the operation panel (or using the UP/DOWN function of input terminals). When the inverter is powered on again after power failure, the set frequency reverts to the value of A0.04.

1: Digital setting (retentive at power failure)

Basic operations are the same as "0: Digital setting" .

The only difference is that when the inverter is powered on again after power failure, the set frequency is the value memorized at the moment of the last power failure.

Note: The hidden parameters set down by F0.20 cleared or unclear 0, factory default is cleared down.

2: AI1 (0-10 V voltage input)

3: AI2 (0-10 V voltage input or 4-20 mA current input, determined by jumper)

4: AI3 (0-10 V voltage input)

The frequency is set by analog input.

5: Pulse setting (X5)

The frequency is set by X5 (high-speed pulse). The signal specification of pulse setting is 9–30 V (voltage range) and 0–100 kHz (frequency range). The corresponding value100% of pulse setting corresponds to the value of A0.04 (Maximum frequency).

6: Multi-reference

In multi-reference mode, combinations of different X terminal states correspond to different set frequencies. The JT600 supports a maximum of 16 speeds implemented by 16 state combinations of four X terminals (allocated with functions 12 to 15)in Group D1. The multiple references indicate percentages of the value of A0.11(Maximum frequency).

If X terminal is used for the multi-reference function, you need to perform related setting in group C0 7: Simple PLC

When the simple programmable logic controller (PLC) mode is used as the frequency source, the running frequency of the inverter can be switched over among the 16 frequency references. You can set the holding time and acceleration/deceleration time of the 16 frequency references. For details, refer to the descriptions of Group D1.

8: PID

The output of PID control is used as the running frequency. PID control is generally used in on-site closed-loop control, such as constant pressure closed-loop control and constant tension closed-loop control. When applying PID as the frequency source, you need to set parameters of PID function in group D0.

9: Communication setting

The frequency is set by means of communication. In other conditions, data is given by the host computer through the communication address 0x1000. The data format is -100.00% to 100.00%. 100.00% corresponds to the value of A0.11 (Maximum frequency).

A0.04	Digital frequency	Range:0.00Hz~max.freq	Default:50.00Hz

If the frequency source is digital setting or terminal UP/DOWN, the value of this parameter is the initial frequency of the inverter (digital setting).

A0.06	Save Option of UP/DOWN when Stop	0: not save 1: save	Default:0
0: not sa	ve		

1. covo

1. save			
A0.07	Auxiliary frequency(Y) given ways	Range:0~9	Default:0

When used as an independent frequency input channel (frequency source switched over from X to Y), the auxiliary frequency source Y is used in the same way as the main frequency source X (refer to A0.03).

When the auxiliary frequency source is used for operation (frequency source is "X and Y operation"), pay attention to the following aspects:

1) If the auxiliary frequency source Y is digital setting, the preset frequency (A0.04) does not take effect. You can directly adjust the set main frequency by pressing keys Λ_{∞} V on the operation panel (or using the UP/DOWN function of input terminals).

2) If the auxiliary frequency source is analog input (AI1, AI2 and AI3) or pulse setting,100% of the input corresponds to the range of the auxiliary frequency Y (set in A0.08 and A0.09).

3) If the auxiliary frequency source is pulse setting, it is similar to analog input.

The main frequency source X and auxiliary frequency source Y must not use the same channel. That is, A0.03 and A0.07 cannot be set to the same value.

A0.08	Auxiliary speed range selection	Range:0~1	Default:0
A0.09	Auxiliary speed range	Range:0~150	Default:100%

If X and Y operation is used, A0.08 and A0.09 are used to set the adjustment range of the auxiliary frequency source. You can set the auxiliary frequency to be relative to either maximum frequency or main frequency X. If relative to main frequency X, the setting range of the auxiliary frequency Yvaries according to the main frequency X.

JT600 Series Inverter Manual

A0.11	Maximum frequency	Range:50.00Hz~320.00Hz	Default:50.00Hz	
-------	-------------------	------------------------	-----------------	--

When the frequency source is AI, pulse setting (X5), or multi-reference, 100% of the input corresponds to the value of this parameter.

A0.12	Source of frequency upper limit	Range:0~5	Default:0
-------	---------------------------------	-----------	-----------

It is used to set the source of the frequency upper limit, including digital setting (A0.13), AI,pulse setting or communication setting. If the frequency upper limit is set by means of AI1,AI2, AI3, DI5 or communication, the setting is similar to that of the main frequency source X.For details, see the description of A0.03.

A0.13	Frequency upper limit	Range:lowerlimit(A0.14)~max.freq (A0.11)	Default:50.00Hz		
This parameter is used to set the frequency upper limit.					
A0.14	Frequency lower limit	Range:0.00~frequency upper limit	Default:0.00 Hz		

If the frequency reference is lower than the value of this parameter, the inverter can stop, run at the frequency lower limit, or run at zero speed, determined by A2.09.

A0.15	Base frequency for UP/DOWN	Range:0~1	Default:0

0: Running frequency

1: Set frequency

This parameter is valid only when the frequency source is digital setting. It is used to set the base frequency to be modified by using keys and or the terminal UP/DOWN function. If the running frequency and set frequency are different, there will be a large difference between the inverter's performance during the acceleration/deceleration process.

A0 16	Carrier frequency	Range: 0.5kHz~16.0kHz	Default:Model
A0.10	Carrier nequency	Range.0.5KHZ *10.0KHZ	Dependent

It is used to adjust the carrier frequency of the inverter, helping to reduce the motor noise, avoiding the resonance of the mechanical system, and reducing the leakage current to the earth and interference generated by the inverter.

If the carrier frequency is low, output current has high harmonics, and the power loss and temperature rise of the motor increase.

If the carrier frequency is high, power loss and temperature rise of the motor declines. However, the inverter has an increase in power loss, temperature rise and interference.

Adjusting the carrier frequency will exert influences on the aspects listed in the following table.

Carrier frequency	Low	High
Motor noise	Large	Small
Output current waveform	Bad	Good
Motor temperature rise	High	Low
AC drive temperature rise	Low	High
Leakage current	Small	Large
External radiation interference	Small	Large

The factory setting of carrier frequency varies with the inverter power. If you need to modify the carrier frequency, note that if the set carrier frequency is higher than factory setting, it will lead to an increase in temperature rise of the inverter's heatsink. In this case, you need to derate the inverter. Otherwise, the inverter may overheat and alarm.

A0.17	Carrier frequency adjustment with temperature	Range:0~1	Default:1

0: No 1: Yes

It is used to set whether the carrier frequency is adjusted based on the temperature. The inverter automatically reduces the carrier frequency when detecting that the heatsink temperature is high. The inverter resumes the carrier frequency to the set value when the heatsink temperature becomes normal. This function reduces the overheat alarms.

A0.18 Carrier frequency adjustment with temperature Range:0~1 Def	efault:1
--	----------

0: Maximum frequency (A0.11)

1: Set frequency

2: 100 Hz

The acceleration/deceleration time indicates the time for the inverter to increase from 0 Hz to the frequency set in A0.18. If this parameter is set to 1, the acceleration/deceleration time is related to the set frequency. If the set frequency changes frequently, the motor's acceleration/deceleration also changes.

A0.20	Acceleration time 1	Range:0.0s~6500.0s	Default:Model Dependent
A0.21	Deceleration time 1	Range:0.0s~6500.0s	Default:Model Dependent
A0.22	Acceleration time 2	Range:0.0s~6500.0s	Default:Model Dependent
A0.23	Deceleration time 2	Range:0.0s~6500.0s	Default:Model Dependent



The JT600 provides totally four groups of acceleration/deceleration time for selection. You can perform switchover by using a X terminal.

A0.24	Rotation direction	Range:0~1	Default:0
0 0			

0: Same direction

1: Reverse direction

You can change the rotation direction of the motor just by modifying this parameter without changing the motor wiring. Modifying this parameter is equivalent to exchanging any two of the motor's U, V, W wires.

A0.25	Reverse control	Range:0~1	Default:0
0: Enabl	ed		

1: Disabled

It is used to set whether the inverter allows reverse rotation. In the applications where reverse rotation is prohibited, set this parameter to 1.

A0.26 Forward/Reverse rotation dead-zone time Range:0	0.0s~3000.0s Default:0.0s
---	---------------------------

It is used to set the time when the output is 0 Hz at transition of the inverter forward rotation and reverse rotation, as shown in the following Figure .

Group A1: Start/Stop Control Parameters

A1.00	Start mode	Range:0~2	Default:0
▲ A 1 00)_0. Direct stort		

♦ A1.00=0: Direct start

It is applicable to most small-inertia loads, Start frequency is applicable to drive equipment which requires startup torque, such as cement mixer

◆ 1: Rotational speed tracking restart

To catch a spinning motor, the inverter detects speed and direction of spinning motor, and then starts to run from the spinning motor frequency.

In this start mode, ensure that motor parameters in group B0 are set correctly

A1.02	Rotational speed tracking speed	Range:1~100	Default:35
T (1)	· 1 1/ 1' // 1 1/	1 1 1 1 1	1 771 1 41

In the rotational speed tracking restart mode, select the rotational speed tracking speed. The larger the value is, the faster the tracking is. However, too large value may cause unreliable tracking.

A1.03	Startup frequency	Range:0.00Hz~10.00Hz	Default:0.00Hz
A1.04	Startup frequency holding time	Range:0.0s~100.0s	Default:0.0s



0: Decelerate to stop

After the stop command is enabled, the inverter decreases the output frequency according to the deceleration time and stops when the frequency decreases to zero.

1: Coast to stop

After the stop command is enabled, the inverter immediately stops the output. The motor will coast to stop based on the mechanical inertia.

A1.09	Initial frequency of stop DC braking	Range:0.00Hz~max. freq	Default:0.00Hz
A1.10	Waiting time of stop DC braking	Range:0.0s~100.0s	Default:0.0s
A1.11	Stop DC braking current	Range:0%~100%	Default:0%
A1.12	Stop DC braking time	Range:0.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0s

The inverter starts DC injection braking when the running frequency decreases to the value set in this parameter in the process of deceleration to stop.



A1.13	Brake use ratio	Range:0%~100%	Default:100%

It is valid only for the inverter with internal braking unit and used to adjust the duty ratio of the braking unit. The larger the value of this parameter is, the better the braking result will be. However, too larger value causes great fluctuation of the inverter bus voltage during the braking process.

A1.19	Frequency switchover of acceleration time 1 and acceleration time 2	Range:0.00Hz~max.freq	Default:0.00Hz
A1.20	Frequency switchover of deceleration time 1 and deceleration time 2	Range:0.00Hz~max.freq	Default:0.00Hz

This function is valid when acceleration/deceleration time switchover is not performed by means of X terminal. It is used to select different groups of acceleration/deceleration time based on the running frequency range rather than X terminal during the running process of the inverter.



Group A2: Auxiliary Parameters

A2.00	JOG running frequency	Range:0.00Hz~the max.freq	Default:2.00Hz
A2.01	JOG acceleration time	Range:0.0s~6500.0s	Default:20.0s
A2.02	JOG deceleration time	Range:0.0s~6500.0s	Default:20.0s

These parameters are used to define the set frequency and acceleration/deceleration time of the inverter when jogging. The startup mode is "Direct start" (A1.00 = 0) and the stop mode is "Decelerate to stop" (A1.08 = 0) during jogging.

A2.03	Terminal JOG preferred	Range:0~1	Default:0	

0: Disabled 1: Enabled

It is used to set whether terminal JOG is preferred.

If terminal JOG is preferred, the inverter switches to terminal JOG running state when there is a terminal JOG command during the running process of the inverter.

A2.04	Jump frequency 1	Range:0.00Hz~the max.freq	Default:0.00Hz
A2.05	Jump frequency 2	Range:0.00Hz~the max.freq	Default:0.00Hz
A2.06	Frequency jump amplitude	Range:0.00Hz~the max.freq	Default:0.01Hz

If the set frequency is within the frequency jump range, the actual running frequency is the jump frequency close to the set frequency. Setting the jump frequency helps to avoid the mechanical resonance point of the load.

The JT600 supports two jump frequencies. If both are set to 0, the frequency jump function is disabled. The principle of the jump frequencies and jump amplitude is shown in the following Figure .


A2.07	Jump frequency during acceleration/deceleration	Range:0~1	Default:0
0: Disab	led		

1: Enabled

It is used to set whether the jump frequencies are valid during acceleration/deceleration.When the jump frequencies are valid during acceleration/deceleration, and the running frequency is within the frequency jump range, the actual running frequency will jump over the set frequency jump amplitude.

A2.09 Running mode when set frequency lower than frequency lower limit Range:0~2	D	efault:0

It is used to set the inverter running mode when the set frequency is lower than the frequency lower limit. The JT600 provides three running modes to satisfy requirements of various applications

0: Run at frequency lower limit

1: Stop

2:	Run	at	zero	speed		

A2.10	Accumulative power-on time threshold	Range:0s~65000h	Default:0h					
If the accumulative power-on time (A2.13) reaches the value set in this parameter, the corresponding								
DO terminal b	ecomes ON.							
A2.11 Accumulative running time threshold Range:0s~65000h Default:0h								
It is used to set the accumulative running time threshold of the inverter. If the accumulative running								
time (A2.12) re	eaches the value set in this parameter, the	corresponding digital output termin	nal becomes ON.					
A2.12	Default:-							
It is used to display the accumulative running time of the inverter. After the accumulative running time								
reaches the val	ue set in A2.11, the terminal with the digi	tal output function 12 becomes ON	Ι.					
A2.13	Accumulative power-on time	Range:0~65535h	Default:-					
It is used to display the accumulative power-on time of the inverter since the delivery. If the time reaches the set power-on time (A2.10), the terminal with the digital output function 24 becomes ON.								
A2.14	Accumulative power consumption	Range:0~65535kwh	Default:-					
It is used	d to display the accumulative power consu	amption of the inverter until now.						
A2.16	Cooling fan control	Range:0~1	Default:0					

It is used to set the working mode of the cooling fan. If this parameter is set to 0, the fan works when the inverter is in running state. When the inverter stops, the cooling fan works if the heatsink temperature is higher than 40° C, and stops working if the heatsink temperature is lower than 40° C.

If this parameter is set to 1, the cooling fan keeps working after power on.

A2.17	Wakeup frequency	Range:A2.19~A0.11	Default:0.00Hz
A2.18	Wakeup delay time	Range:0.0s~6500.0s	Default:0.0s
A2.19	Dormant frequency	Range:0.00Hz~A2.17	Default:0.00Hz
A2.20	Dormant delay time	Range:0.0~6500.0s	Default:0.0s

These parameters are used to implement the dormant and wakeup functions in the water supply application.

When the inverter is in running state, the inverter enters the dormant state and stops automatically after the dormant delay time (A2.19) if the set frequency is lower than or equal to the dormant frequency (A2.20).

When the inverter is in dormant state and the current running command is effective, the inverters starts up after the wakeup delay time (A2.17) if the set frequency is higher than or equal to the wakeup frequency (A2.18).

Generally, set the wakeup frequency equal to or higher than the dormant frequency. If the wakeup frequency and dormant frequency are set to 0, the dormant and wakeup functions are disabled.

When the dormant function is enabled, if the frequency source is PID, whether PID operation is performed in the dormant state is determined by FA.28. In this case, select PID operation enabled in the stop state (D0.28 = 1).

Group A3: Protection Parameters

A3.14	Voltage gain for voltage limit	Range: 0 to 100	Default: 30
A3.15	Voltage limit	Range: 120% to 150%	Default: 130%

When bus voltage rises above the value set in A3.14, the motor becomes regenerative. This function prevents over-voltage trips by adjusting the output frequency to extend deceleration time in this case.



0: Disabled

1: Enabled

It is used to determine whether to check the motor is short-circuited to ground at power-on of the inverter. If this function is enabled, the inverter's UVW will have voltage output a while after power-on.

Group A4:User parameter group

	A4.00	User password	Range:0~65536	Default:0
т	fit is set to a	ny non-zono nymbor the necessiond protecti	on function is anabled After a	magazziand has been as

If it is set to any non-zero number, the password protection function is enabled. After a password has been set and taken effect, you must enter the correct password in order to enter the menu. If the entered password is incorrect you cannot view or modify parameters.

If F0.23 is set to 00000, the previously set user password is cleared, and the password function is disabled.

A4.02		MK	Key f	uncti	on sel	ection			Range	e:0~4			Default:0	
3 617 1	c		1.10		1.1	37	.1	C	 C .1	3 677 1	1	•		

MK key refers to multifunctional key. You can set the function of the MK key by using this parameter. You can perform switchover by using this key both in stop or running state.

0: MK key disabled

This key is disabled.

1: Switchover between operation panel control and remote command control

You can perform switchover from the current command source to the operation panel control (local operation). If the current command source is operation panel control, this key is invalid.

2: Switchover between forward rotation and reverse rotation

You can change the direction of the frequency reference by using the MK key. It is valid only when the current command source is operation panel control.

3: Forward JOG

You can perform forward JOG (FJOG) by using the MK key.

4: Reverse JOG

You can perform reverse JOG (FJOG) by using the MK key.

A4.03	Restore Default Settings	Range:0~2	Default:0			
1. Postora default settings avant motor personators						

1: Restore default settings except motor parameters

If A4.03 is set to 1, most function codes are restored to the default settings except motor parameters, frequency reference resolution, fault records, accumulative running time, accumulative power-on time and accumulative power consumption.

2: Clear records

If A4.03 is set to 2, the fault records, accumulative running time, accumulative power-on time and accumulative power consumption are cleared.

A4.04	Parameter modification property	Range:0~1	Default:0
-------	------------------------------------	-----------	-----------

0: Modifiable

1: Not modifiable

It is used to set whether the parameters are modifiable to avoid mal-function. If it is set to 0, all parameters are modifiable. If it is set to 1, all parameters can only be viewed.

A4.09	Load speed display coefficient	Range:0.0001~6.5000	Default:1.0000	

This parameter is used to adjust the relationship between the output frequency of the inverter and the load speed. For details, see the description of A4.10.

for foad speed display	A4.10	Number of decimal places for load speed display	Range:0~3	Default:1
------------------------	-------	--	-----------	-----------

This is used to set the number of decimal places for load speed display. The following gives an example to explain how to calculate the load speed:

Assume that A4.09 (Load speed display coefficient) is 2.000 and A4.10 is 2 (2 decimal places). When the running frequency of the inverter is 40.00 Hz, the load speed is 40.00*2.000 = 80.00 If the inverter is at the stop state, the load speed is the speed corresponding to the set frequency, namely, "set load speed". If the set frequency is 50.00 Hz, the load speed in the stop state is $50.00 \times 2.000 = 100.000$: 0 decimal place

- 1: 1 decimal place
- 2: 2 decimal places
- 3: 3 decimal places

Group A5: Communication Parameters

Reference to Appendix A: MODBUS Communication Protocol

Group B1: Vector Control Parameters

B1.00	Speed loop proportional gain 1	1~100	Default:30
B1.01	Speed loop integral time 1	0.01s~10.00s	Default:0.50s
B1.02	Switchover frequency 1	0.00~F5.05	Default:5.00Hz
B1.03	Speed loop proportional gain 2	1~100	Default:20
B1.04	Speed loop integral time 2	0.01s~10.00s	Default:1.00s
B1.05	Switchover frequency 2	F5.02~max.freq	Default:10.00Hz

• If running frequency $\leq B1-02$ (Switchover frequency 1), PI parameters are B1-00 and B1-01.

• If running frequency \geq B1-05 (Switchover frequency 2), PI parameters are B1-03 and B1-04.

• If running frequency is between B1-02 and B1-05, PI parameters are obtained from linear switchover between two groups of PI parameters, as shown in Figure.

B1.06	Vector control slip gain	Range:50%~200%	Default:100%

It can adjust output current of the AC drive. Decrease this parameter gradually when a large rating AC drive is controlling a lightly loaded motor. Adjustment of this parameter is not required normally.

B1.07 Time constant of speed loop filter Range:0.000s~0.100s Default:0.000s

It can improve motor stability by increasing B1.07. Be aware that this may slow dynamic response. Decreasing it will obtain quick system response but may lead to motor oscillation. Adjustment of this parameter is not required normally.

B1.08	Vector control over excitation gain	Range:0~200	Default:64
During	deceleration, over-excitation control can re-	estrain rise of the bus vo	Itage to avoid the

over-voltage fault. The larger the over-excitation gain is, the better the restraining effect is.

Increase the over-excitation gain if the inverter is liable to over-voltage error during deceleration. Too large over-excitation gain, however, may lead to an increase in output current. Therefore, set this parameter to a proper value in actual applications.

Set the over-excitation gain to 0 in applications of small inertia (the bus voltage will not rise during deceleration) or where there is a braking resistor.

Group C0:Input Terminal

C0.00	X1 function selection	Range:0~50	Default:1
C0.01	X2 function selection	Range:0~50	Default:4
C0.02	X3 function selection	Range:0~50	Default:9
C0.03	X4 function selection	Range:0~50	Default:12
C0.04	X5 function selection	Range:0~50	Default:13

Input Terminal Setting list:

value	Function	Description
0	No function	
1	Forward RUN (FWD)	The terminal is used to control forward or reverse RUN of the
2	Reverse RUN (REV)	inverter.
3	Three-line control	The terminal determines three-line control of the inverter. For details, see the description of C0.23.
4	Forward JOG (FJOG)	FJOG indicates forward JOG running, while RJOG indicates reverse JOG running. The JOG frequency, acceleration time and
5	Reverse JOG (RJOG)	deceleration time are described respectively in A2.00,A2.01,A2.02.
6	Terminal UP	If the frequency is determined by external terminals, the terminals with the two functions are used as increment and decrement commands for frequency modification When the
7	Terminal DOWN	frequency.
8	Coast to stop	The inverter blocks its output, the motor coasts to rest and is not controlled by the inverter.
9	Fault reset (RESET)	The terminal is used for fault reset function, the same as the function of RESET key on the operation panel.
10	RUN pause	The inverter decelerates to stop, but the running parameters are all memorized, such as PLC, swing frequency and PID parameters. After this function is disabled, the inverter resumes its status before stop.
11	Normally open (NO) input of external fault	If this terminal becomes ON, the inverter reports Err15and performs the fault protection action. For more details, see the description of A3.00.

12	Multi-reference terminal 1				
13	Multi-reference terminal 2	The setting of 16 speeds or 16 other references can be			
14	Multi-reference terminal 3	terminals			
15	Multi-reference terminal 4	terminais.			
16	Terminal 1 for acceleration/deceleration time selection Terminal 2 for	Totally four groups of acceleration/deceleration time can be selected through combinations of two states of these two			
17	acceleration/deceleration time selection	terminals.			
18	Frequency source switch over	The terminal is used to perform switchover between two frequency sources according to the setting in A0.02			
19	UP and DOWN setting clear(terminal, operation panel)	If the frequency source is digital setting, the terminal is used to clear the modification by using the UP/DOWN function or the increment/decrement key on the operation panel, returning the set frequency to the value of A0.04.			
20	Command source switch over keyboard	If the command source is not set to terminal control $(A0.01=1)$, this terminal is used to perform switchover to terminal control.			
21	Acceleration/Deceleration prohibited	It enables the inverter to maintain the current frequency output without being affected by external signals (except the STOP command).			
22	PID pause	PID is invalid temporarily. The inverter maintains the current frequency output without supporting PID adjustment of frequency source.			
23	PLC status reset	The terminal is used to restore the original status of PLC control for the inverter when PLC control is started again after a pause			
24	Swing pause	The inverter outputs the central frequency, and the swing frequency function pauses			
25	Counter input	This terminal is used to count pulses			
26	Counter reset	This terminal is used to clear the counter status.			
27	Length count input	This terminal is used to count the length			
28	Length reset	This terminal is used to clear the length			
29	Torque control prohibited	The inverter is prohibited from torque control and enters the speed control mode.			
30	Pulse input (only for X5)	X5 is used for pulse input.			
32	Immediate DC braking	After this terminal becomes ON, the inverter directly switches over to the DC braking state.			
33	Normally closed (NC) input of external fault	After this terminal becomes ON, the inverter reports Err15 and stops.			
34	Frequency modification forbidden	After this terminal becomes ON, the inverter does not respond to any frequency modification.			
35	Reverse PID action direction	After this terminal becomes ON, the PID action direction is reversed to the direction set in D0.03.			
36	External STOP terminal 1	In operation panel mode, this terminal can be used to stop the inverter, equivalent to the function of the STOP key on the operation panel.			
37	Command source switch over terminal	It is used to perform switchover between terminal control and communication control. If the command source is terminal			

		control, the system will switch over to communication control after this terminal becomes ON.
		After this terminal becomes ON, the integral adjustment
38	PID integral pause	function pauses. However, the proportional and differentiation adjustment functions are still valid.
39	Switch over between main frequency source X and digital Frequency	After this terminal becomes ON, the frequency source X is replaced by the preset frequency set in A0.04.
40	Switch over between auxiliary frequency source Y and digital frequency	After this terminal is enabled, the frequency source Y is replaced by the preset frequency set in A0.04
41	Switch over between PID parameters	If the PID parameters switchover performed by means of DI terminal (D0.18 = 1), the PID parameters are D0.05 to D0.07 when the terminal becomes OFF; the PID parameters are D0.15 to D0.17 when this terminal becomes ON.
42	User-defined fault 1	If these two terminals become ON, the inverter reports Err27 and Err28 respectively, and performs fault protection actions
43	User-defined fault 2	based on the setting in A3.02.
44	Speed control/Torque control switchover	This terminal enables the inverter to switch over between speed control and torque control. When this terminal becomes OFF, the inverter runs in the mode set in B3.00. When this terminal becomes ON, the inverter switches over to the other control mode.
45	Emergency stop	When this terminal becomes ON, the inverter stops within the shortest time. During the stop process, the current remains at the set current upper limit. This function is used to satisfy the requirement of stopping the inverter in emergency state.
46	External STOP terminal 2	In any control mode, it can be used to make the inverter decelerate to stop. In this case, the deceleration time is deceleration time 4.
47	Deceleration DC braking	When this terminal becomes ON, the inverter decelerates to the initial frequency of stop DC braking and then switches over to DC braking state.
48	Clear the current running time	When this terminal becomes ON, the inverter's current running time is cleared. This function must be supported by C4.17 and C4.23

Table Input Terminal Setting list

Multi-reference Setting						
multi-	Multi	Multi	Multi	Frequency	Corresponding	
reference	-reference	-reference	-reference	setting	parameter	
terminal 4	terminal 3	terminal 2	terminal 1			
OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF	Reference 0	D1.51	
OFF	OFF	OFF	ON	Reference 1	D1.01	
OFF	OFF	ON	OFF	Reference 2	D1.02	
OFF	OFF	ON	ON	Reference 3	D1.03	
OFF	ON	OFF	OFF	Reference 4	D1.04	
OFF	ON	OFF	ON	Reference 5	D1.05	
OFF	ON	ON	OFF	Reference 6	D1.06	
OFF	ON	ON	ON	Reference 7	D1.07	
ON	OFF	OFF	OFF	Reference 8	D1.08	
ON	OFF	OFF	ON	Reference 9	D1.09	

ON	OFF	ON	OFF	Reference 10	D1.10
ON	OFF	ON	ON	Reference 11	D1.11
ON	ON	OFF	OFF	Reference 12	D1.12
ON	ON	OFF	ON	Reference 13	D1.13
ON	ON	ON	OFF	Reference 14	D1.14
ON	ON	ON	ON	Reference 15	D1.15

Table Multi-reference Setting

Acceleration/Deceleration Time Selection						
acceleration/	eration/ Acceleration/deceleration Acceleration		Corresponding			
deceleration time	time terminal 1	/deceleration time selection	parameter			
terminal 2						
OFF	OFF	Acceleration time1	A0.20, A0.21			
OFF	ON	Acceleration time2	A0.22, A0.23			
ON	OFF	Acceleration time3	A1.21, A1.22			
ON	ON	Acceleration time4	A1.23、A1.24			

Acceleration/Deceleration Time Selection

C0.10	X filter time	Range:0.000s~1.000s	Default:0.010s

It is used to set the software filter time of X terminal status. If X terminals are liable to interference and may cause malfunction, increase the value of this parameter to enhance the anti-interference capability. However, increase of X filter time will reduce the response of X terminals.

C0.21	X valid mode selection		Range:00000~11111		Default:00000	
Ten thousand's d	igit	Thousand's digit	Hundred's digit	Ten	's digit	Unit's digit
X5		X4	X3		X2	X1

0: High level valid

The X terminal is valid when connected with COM, and invalid when disconnected from COM. 1: Low level valid

The X terminal is invalid when connected with COM, and invalid when disconnected from COM.

C0.23	Terminal command mode	Range:0~3	Default:0
0 5 1' 1			

0: Two-line mode 1

It is the most commonly used two-line mode, in which the forward/reverse rotation of the motor is decided by X1 and X2.

K1	K2	RUN Command
1	0	Forward RUN
0	1	Reverse RUN
1	1	STOP
0	0	STOP

	AT600
K1	X1 Forward RUN
K2	X2 Reverse RUN
	Com

1: Two-line mode 2

In this mode, DI1 is RUN enabled terminal, and DI2 determines the running direction.

K1	K2	RUN Command		4.7600
1	0	Forward RUN	K1	X1 RUN enabled
1	1	Reverse RUN	K2	X2 Direction
0	0	STOP		
0	0	STOP		Com

As shown in the preceding Figure , if K1 is ON, the inverter instructs forward rotation when K2 is OFF, and instructs reverse rotation when K2 is ON. If K1 is OFF, the inverter stops.

2: Three-line mode 1

In this mode, X3 is RUN enabled terminal, and the direction is decided by X1 and X2.

K1	K2	K3	RUN Command
0/1	0/1	0	STOP
1	0	1	Forward RUN
0	1	1	Reverse RUN



3:Three-line mode 2

In this mode, X3 is RUN enabled terminal. The RUN command is given by X1 and the direction is decided by X2.



It is used to adjust the rate of change of frequency when the frequency is adjusted by means of terminal UP/DOWN.

Group C1: Analog input function

C1.02	AI1 filter time	Range:0.00s~10.00s	Default:0.10s
C1.03	AI2 filter time	Range:0.00s~10.00s	Default:0.10s
C1.04	AI3 filter time	Range:0.00s~10.00s	Default:0.10s

Definition analog input terminal AI1, AI2 and keyboard potentiometer filter time, the input signal filtering. Long filtering time, the anti-interference ability, but the slow response; filtering the fast response time is short, but weak anti-interference ability.

C1.05	AI curve 1 minimum input	Range:0.00V~C1.07	Default:0.20V
C1.06	Corresponding setting of AI curve 1 minimum input	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
C1.07	AI curve 1 maximum input	Range:C1.05~+10.00V	Default:10.00V
C1.08	Corresponding setting of AI curve 1 maximum input	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:100.0%

Two typical setting examples are shown in the following Figure .



C1.09	AI curve 2 minimum input	Range:0.00V~C1.11	Default:0.20V
C1.10	Corresponding setting of AI curve 2 minimum input	Range:-100.0%~+100.0%	Default:0.0%
C1.11	AI curve 2maximum input	Range:C1.09~+10.00V	Default:10.00V
C1.12	Corresponding setting of AI curve 2maximum input	Range:-100.0%~+100.0%	Default:100.0%
C1.13	AI curve 3 minimum input	Range:0.00V~C1.15	Default:0.20V
C1.14	Corresponding setting of AI curve 3 minimum input	Range:-100.0%~+100.0%	Default:0.0%
C1.15	AI curve 3 maximum input	Range:C1.13~+10.00V	Default:10.00V
C1.16	Corresponding setting of AI curve 3 maximum input	Range:-100.0%~+100.0%	Default:100.0%

Please refer to the AI1 when use AI2 and AI3 curve function.

Group C2: Output Terminals

C2.01	Y1 function (open collector output terminal)	Range:0~45	Default:1	
C2.02	Y2 function (open collector output terminal)	Range:0~45	Default:0	
C2.03	R relay output function selection	Range:0~45	Default:2	
C2.04 E relay output function selection Range:0~45 Default:0				
Eurotions of output terminals:				

Functions of output terminals:

Value	Function	Description
0	No output	
1	inverter running	When the inverter is running and has output frequency(can be zero), the terminal becomes ON.
2	Fault output (stop)	When the inverter stops due to a fault, the terminal becomes ON.
3	Frequency-level detection FDT1 output	Refer to the descriptions of C4.00,C4.01.
4	Frequency reached	When the output frequency and set frequency error is less than C4.02 (percentage of the maximum frequency with respect to) the set value, the output ON.
5	Zero-speed running (no output at stop)	If the inverter runs with the output frequency of 0, the terminal becomes ON. If the inverter is in the stop state, the terminal becomes OFF.
6	Motor overload pre-warning	The inverter judges whether the motor load exceeds the overload pre-warning threshold before performing the protection action. If the pre-warning threshold is exceeded, the terminal becomes ON. For motor overload parameters, see the descriptions of A3.10~A3.12 °
7	inverter overload pre-warning	The terminal becomes ON 10s before the inverter overload protection action is performed.
8	Set count value reached	The terminal becomes ON when the count value reaches the value set in C4.24
9	Designated count value reached	The terminal becomes ON when the count value reaches the value set in group C4.25
10	Length reached	The terminal becomes ON when the detected actual length exceeds the value set in C4.26
11	PLC cycle complete	When simple PLC completes one cycle, the terminal outputs a pulse signal with width of 250 ms.
12	Accumulative running time reached	If the accumulative running time of the inverter exceeds the time set in A2.11, the terminal becomes ON

13	Frequency limited	If the set frequency exceeds the frequency upper limit or lower limit and the output frequency of the inverter reaches the upper limit or lower limit, the terminal becomes ON.		
14	Torque limited	In speed control mode, if the output torque reaches the torque limit, the inverter enters the stall protection state and meanwhile the terminal becomes ON.		
15	Ready for RUN	If the inverter main circuit and control circuit become stable, and the inverter detects no fault and is ready for RUN, the terminal becomes ON.		
16	AI1>AI2	When the input of AI1 is larger than AI2, the terminal ON.		
17	Frequency upper limit reached	If the running frequency reaches the upper limit, the terminal becomes ON.		
18	Frequency lower limit reached (no output at stop)	If the running frequency reaches the lower limit, the terminal becomes ON. In the stop state, the terminal becomes OFF.		
19	Under voltage state output	If the inverter is in low voltage state, the terminal becomes ON.		
20	Communication setting	Refer to the communication protocol.		
23	Zero-speed running 2	If the output frequency of the inverter is 0, the terminal becomes ON. In the state of stop, the signal is still ON.		
24	Accumulative power-on time reached	If the inverter accumulative power-on time (A2.13)exceeds the value set in A2.10, the terminal becomes ON.		
25	Frequency level detection FDT2 output	Refer to the descriptions of C4.03and C4.04		
26	Frequency 1 reached	Refer to the descriptions of C4.05 and C4.06		
27	Frequency 2 reached	Refer to the descriptions of C4.07 and C4.08		
28	Current 1 reached	Refer to the descriptions of C4.13 and C4.14		
29	Current 2 reached	Refer to the descriptions of C4.15 and C4.16		
30	Timing reached	If the timing function (C4.17) is valid, the terminal becomes ON after the current running time of the inverter reaches the set time.		
31	AI1 input limit exceeded	If AII input is larger than the value of C4.21(AII input voltage upper limit) or lower than the value of C4.20(AII input voltage lower limit), the terminal becomes ON.		
32	Load becoming 0	If the load becomes 0, the terminal becomes ON.		
33	Reverse running	If the inverter is in the reverse running state, the terminal becomes ON.		
34	Zero current state	Refer to the descriptions of C4.09,C4.10		
35	Module temperature reached	If the heatsink temperature of the inverter module $(U1.37)$ reaches the set module temperature threshold (C4.22), the terminal becomes ON		
36	Software current limit exceeded	Refer to the descriptions of C4.11,C4.12		
37	Frequency lower limit reached	If the running frequency reaches the lower limit, the terminal becomes ON. In the stop state, the signal is still ON		
38	Alarm output If a fault occurs on the inverter and the inverter continues to run, th terminal outputs the alarm signal.			
40	Current running time reached	If the current running time of inverter exceeds the value of C4.23, the terminal becomes ON.		
44	The X1 state	The X1 current state		
45	The X2 state	The X2 current state		
L	1	Functions of output terminals		
]	F3.14 Y1 delay 0.0s~3600.0s 0.0s			

F3.14	Y1 delay	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0s
F3.15	Y2 delay	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0s
F3.16	R delay	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0s
F3.17	E delay	0.0s~3600.0s	0.0s

Delay time from state change to actual output change.

C2.12	DO output function selection	Range:0~16	Default:0
C2.13	AO1output function selection	Range:0~16	Default:0
C2.14	AO2output function selection	Range:0~16	Default:1

DO terminal output pulse frequency range of 0.01kHz ~ C2.15 (DO maximum output frequency), C2.15can be set between 0.01kHz ~ 100.00kHz.

Analog output AO1 and AO2 output range of 0V ~ 10V, or 0mA ~ 20mA.

Value	Function	Range
0	Running frequency	0 to maximum output frequency
1	Set frequency	0 to maximum output frequency
2	Output current	0 to 2 times of rated motor current
3	Output torque	0 to 2 times of rated motor torque
4	Output power	0 to 2 times of rated power
5	Output voltage	0 to 1.2 times of rated inverter voltage
6	Pulse input	0.01kHz~100.00kHz
7	AI1	0V~10V
8	AI2	0V~10V (0~20mA)
9	AI3	0V~10V
10	Length	0 to maximum set length
11	Count value	0 to maximum count value
12	Communication setting	0.0%~100.0%
13	Motor rotational speed	0 to rotational speed corresponding to output max.freq
14	Output current	0.0A~1000.0A
15	Output voltage	0.0V~1000.0V

 C2.15
 Output max.Freq of DO
 Range:0.01kHz~100.00kHz
 Default:50.00Hz

 If the Y2/DO terminal is used for pulse output, this parameter is used to set the maximum frequency of pulse output.
 Default:50.00Hz

C2.16	AO1 offset coefficient	Range:-100.0~+100.0	Default:0.0
C2.17	AO1 gain	Range:-10.00~+10.00	Default:1.00
C2.18	AO2 offset coefficient	Range:-100.0~+100.0	Default:0.0
C2.19	AO2 gain	Range:-10.00~+10.00	Default:1.00

These four function parameters generally correct zero offset of analog output and output amplitude error. They can also define required AO curve.

Zero offset coefficient 100% of AO1 and AO2 corresponds to 10 V or 20 mA. You can calculate the gain and the zero offset coefficient from the following formulas:

$$K = \frac{(Y1 - Y2) * X \max}{(X1 - X2) * Y \max} \qquad b = \frac{(X1 * Y2 - X2 * Y1)}{(X1 - X2) * Y \max} *100\%$$

For example, AO1 is used for output of frequency reference. To implement output of 2 V (Y1) at 0 Hz (x1) and output of 10 V (Y2) at 50 Hz (X2) according to the formulas, you can obtain gain and zero offset coefficient as follows:

$$K = \frac{(2-10)*50}{(0-50)*10} = 0.8 \qquad b = \frac{(0*10-50*2)}{(0-50)*10}*100\% = 20\%$$

Then you can set F3.10 to 20 and set F3.11 to 0.8 In the formulas:

• "b" represents zero offset.

• "X" represents output frequency.

- "k" represents gain.
- "Y" represents actual output of the AO.
- "Xmax" represents max. output frequency (determined by F0-10).
- "Ymax" represents max. output 10 V or 20 mA.

AO output signal type and corresponding max. value are as follows:

AO output signal	Corresponding Max. Output (Ymax)
Voltage	10 V
Current	20 mA

Group C4: Auxiliary Parameters

C4.00	Frequency detection value (FDT1)	Range:0.00Hz~max.freq	Default:50.00Hz
C4.01	Frequency detection hysteresis (FDT hysteresis 1)	Range:0.0%~100.0%	Default:5.0%

If the running frequency is higher than the value of C4.00, the corresponding Y terminal becomes ON. If the running frequency is lower than value of C4.00, the DO terminal goes OFF.

These two parameters are respectively used to set the detection value of output frequency and hysteresis value upon cancellation of the output. The value of C4.01 is a percentage of the hysteresis frequency to the frequency detection value (C4.00). The FDT function is shown in the following Figure .



C4.02	Detection range of frequency reached	Range:0.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
TC .1 .		6.4 . 6 .4	1' DO

If the inverter running frequency is within the certain range of the set frequency, the corresponding DO terminal becomes ON.

This parameter is used to set the range within which the output frequency is detected to reach the set frequency. The value of this parameter is a percentage relative to the maximum frequency. The detection range of frequency reached is shown in the following figure .



C4.03	Frequency detection value (FDT2)	Range:0.00Hz~max.freq	Default:50.00Hz
C4.04	Frequency detection hysteresis (FDT hysteresis 2)	Range:0.0%~100.0%	Default:5.0%
Pafer to description of C4.00, C4.01			

Refer to description of C4.00, C4.01

C4.11

C4.12

C4.05	Any frequency reaching detection value 1	Range:0.00Hz~max.freq	Default:50.00Hz
C4.06	Any frequency reaching detection amplitude 1	Range:0.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
C4.07	Any frequency reaching detection value 2	Range:0.00Hz~max.freq	Default:50.00Hz
C4.08	Any frequency reaching detection amplitude 2	Range:0.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%

If the output frequency of the inverter is within the positive and negative amplitudes of the any frequency reaching detection value, the corresponding digital output becomes ON.



C4.09	Zero current detection level	Range:0.0%~300.0%	Default:5.0%
C4.10	Zero current detection delay time	Range:0.01s~600.00s	Default:0.10s

If the output current of the inverter is equal to or less than the zero current detection level and the duration exceeds the zero current detection delay time, the corresponding output terminal becomes ON. The zero current detection is shown in the following figure .



If the output current of the inverter is equal to or higher than the overcurrent threshold and the duration exceeds the detection delay time, the corresponding output terminal becomes ON. The output overcurrent detection function is shown in the following Figure .



If the output current of the inverter is within the positive and negative amplitudes of any current reaching detection value, the corresponding output terminal becomes ON.

The JT600 provides two groups of any current reaching detection parameters, including current detection value and detection amplitudes, as shown in the following Figure .



(100% of analog input corresponds to the value of C4.19)

C4.19	Timing duration	Range:0.0Min~6500.0Min	Default:0.0Min
	1		

These parameters are used to implement the inverter timing function.

If C4.16 is set to 1, the inverter starts to time at startup. When the set timing duration is reached, the inverter stops automatically and meanwhile the corresponding DO becomes ON.

The inverter starts timing from 0 each time it starts up and the remaining timing duration can be queried by U1.28.

The timing duration is set in C4.18and C4.19, in unit of minute.

C4.20	AI1 input voltage lower limit	Range:0.00V~C4.21	Default:3.10V
C4.21	AI1 input voltage upper limit	Range:C4.20~10.00V	Default:6.80V

These two parameters are used to set the limits of the input voltage to provide protection on the inverter. When the AII input is larger than the value of C4.21or smaller than the value of C4.20, the corresponding output terminal becomes ON, indicating that AII input exceeds the limit.

C4.22	Module temperature threshold	Range:0~100	Default:75℃
-------	---------------------------------	-------------	-------------

When the heatsink temperature of the inverter reaches the value of this parameter, the corresponding output terminal becomes ON, indicating that the module temperature reaches the threshold.

Group D0: Process Control PID Function

D0.00	PID setting source	Range:0~6	Default:0
D0.01	PID digital setting	Range:0.0%-100.0%	Default:50.0%

D0.00 is used to select the channel of target process PID setting. The PID setting is a relative value and ranges from 0.0% to 100.0%. The PID feedback is also a relative value. The purpose of PID control is to make the PID setting and PID feedback equal.

0: D0.01

- 1: AI1
- 2: AI2
- 3: AI3
- 5: Communication setting

6: Multi-reference

D0.02	PID feedback source	Range:0~8	Default:0
This param	eter is used to select the feedbac	ck signal channel of process PII).
0: AI1			
1: AI2			
2: AI3			
3: AI1 - AI	2		
4: Pulse set	ting (DI5)		
5: Commur	ication setting		
6: AI1 + AI	2		
7: MAX (A	I1, AI2)		
8: MIN (AI	1, AI2)		
D0.03	PID action direction	Range:0~1	Default:0

0: Forward action

When the feedback value is smaller than the PID setting, the inverter's output frequency rises. For example, the winding tension control requires forward PID action.

1: Reverse action

When the feedback value is smaller than the PID setting, the inverter's output frequency reduces. For example, the unwinding tension control requires reverse PID action.

Note that this function is influenced by the DI function 35 "Reverse PID action direction".

						_								
D0.04	PID set	ting fee	dbacl	k rai	nge		Rar	ge:0~	65535		Def	ault:10	000	

This parameter is a non-dimensional unit. It is used for PID setting display (U1.14) and PID feedback display (U1.15).

Relative value 100% of PID setting feedback corresponds to the value of D0.04. If D0.04 is set to 2000 and PID setting is 100.0%, the PID setting display (D0.14) is 2000.

D0.05	Proportional gain Kp1	Range:0.0~100.0	Default:20
D0.06	Integral time Ti1	Range:0.01s~10.00s	Default:2.00s
D0.07	Differential time Td1	Range:0.000s~10.000s	Default:0.000s

Proportional gain Kp1:

It decides the regulating intensity of the PID regulator. The higher the Kp1 is, the larger the regulating intensity is. The value 100.0 indicates when the deviation between PID feedback and PID setting is 100.0%, the adjustment amplitude of the PID regulator on the output frequency reference is the maximum frequency.

Integral time Ti1:

It decides the integral regulating intensity. The shorter the integral time is, the larger the regulating intensity is. When the deviation between PID feedback and PID setting is 100.0%, the integral regulator performs continuous adjustment for the time set in D0.06. Then the adjustment amplitude reaches the maximum frequency.

Differential time Td1:

It decides the regulating intensity of the PID regulator on the deviation change. The longer the differential time is, the larger the regulating intensity is. Differential time is the time within which the feedback value change reaches 100.0%, and then the adjustment amplitude reaches the maximum frequency.

	D0.08	Cut-off frequency of PID reverse rotation	Range:0.00 to max.freq	Default:2.00Hz	
In some situations, only when the PID output frequency is a negative value (inverter reverse rotation),					
PID setting and PID feedback can be equal. However, too high reverse rotation frequency is prohibited in					
some applications, and D0.08 is used to determine the reverse rotation frequency upper limit.					

D0.09 PID deviation limit Range:0.0%~100.0% Default:0.0%
--

If the deviation between PID feedback and PID setting is smaller than the value of D0.09, PID control stops. The small deviation between PID feedback and PID setting will make the output frequency stabilize, effective for some closed-loop control applications.

D0.10	PID differential limit	Range:0.00%~100.00%	Default:0.10%			
It is used to set the PID differential output range. In PID control, the differential operation may easily						

cause system oscillation. Thus, the PID differential regulation is restricted to a small range.

D0.11 PID setting change time Range:0.00~650.00s Default:0.00s

The PID setting change time indicates the time required for PID setting changing from 0.0% to 100.0%. The PID setting changes linearly according to the change time, reducing the impact caused by sudden setting change on the system.

D0.12	PID feedback filter time	Range:0.00~60.00s	Default:0.00s
D0.13	PID output filter time	Range:0.00~60.00s	Default:0.00s

D0.12 is used to filter the PID feedback, helping to reduce interference on the feedback but slowing the response of the process closed-loop system.

D0.13 is used to filter the PID output frequency, helping to weaken sudden change of the inverter output frequency but slowing the response of the process closed-loop system.

D0.15	Proportional gain Kp2	Range:0.0~100.0	Default:20.0
D0.16	Integral time Ti2	Range:0.01s~10.00s	Default:2.00s
D0.17	Differential time Td2	Range:0.000s~10.000s	Default:0.000s
D0.18	PID parameter switchover condition	Range:0~2	Default:0
D0.19	PID parameter switchover deviation 1	Range:0.0%~D0.20	Default:20.0%
D0.20	PID parameter switchover deviation 2	Range:D0.19~100.0%	Default:80.0%

D0-15 to D0-20: On some applications, switchover to another set of PID parameters may be required to fine tune the overall performance as load conditions can vary during the different machine cycles. These parameters are used for switchover between two groups of PID parameters. Switchover can be implemented via a DI terminal or automatically implemented according to PID error level.



D0.21	PID initial value	Range:0.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D0.22	PID initial value holding time	Range:0.00~650.00s	Default:0.00s

When the inverter starts up, the PID starts closed-loop algorithm only after the PID output is fixed to the PID initial value (D0.21) and lasts the time set in D0.22.



D0.23	Maximum deviation between two PID outputs in forward direction	Range:0.00%~100.00%	Default:1.00%
D0.24	Maximum deviation between two PID outputs in reverse direction	Range:0.00%~100.00%	Default::1.00%

This function is used to limit the deviation between two PID outputs (2 ms per PID output) to suppress the rapid change of PID output and stabilize the running of the inverter.

D0.23 and D0.24 respectively correspond to the maximum absolute value of the output deviation in forward direction and in reverse direction.

D0.25	PID integral property	Range:11	Default:00
-------	-----------------------	----------	------------

Unit's digit (Integral separated)

0: Invalid

1: Valid

If it is set to valid, , the PID integral operation stops when the X allocated with function 38 "PID integral pause" is ON In this case, only proportional and differential operations take effect.

If it is set to invalid, integral separated remains invalid no matter whether the X allocated with function 38 "PID integral pause" is ON or not.

Ten's digit (Whether to stop integral operation when the output reaches the limit)

0: Continue integral operation

1: Stop integral operation

Whether to stop integral operation when the output reaches the limit

If "Stop integral operation" is selected, the PID integral operation stops, which may help to reduce the PID overshoot.

D0.26	Detection value of PID feedback loss	Range:0.0%: Not judging feedback loss 0.1%–100.0%	Default: 0.0%
D0.27	Detection time of PID feedback loss	Range:0.0s~20.0s	Default:0.0s

These parameters are used to judge whether PID feedback is lost.

If the PID feedback is smaller than the value of D0.26 and the lasting time exceeds the value of D0.27, the inverter reports Err31 and acts according to the selected fault protection action.

D0 28	PID operation at stop	0: No PID operation at stop	0
D0.28	FID operation at stop	1: PID operation at stop	0

It is used to select whether to continue PID operation in the state of stop. Generally, the PID operation stops when the inverter stops.

Group D1: Multi-Reference and Simple PLC Function Parameters

D1.00	Reference 0	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.01	Reference 1	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.02	Reference 2	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.03	Reference 3	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.04	Reference 4	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.05	Reference 5	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.06	Reference 6	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.07	Reference 7	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.08	Reference 8	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.09	Reference 9	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.10	Reference10	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.11	Reference11	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.12	Reference12	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.13	Reference13	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.14	Reference14	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%
D1.15	Reference15	Range:-100.0%~100.0%	Default:0.0%

Multi-reference can be the setting source of frequency, V/F separated voltage and process PID. The multi-reference is relative value and ranges from -100.0% to 100.0%.

As frequency source, it is a percentage relative to the maximum frequency. As V/F separated voltage source, it is a percentage relative to the rated motor voltage. As process PID setting source, it does not require conversion.Multi-reference can be switched over based on different states of DI terminals.

D1.16	Simple PLC running mode	Range:0~2	Default:0
0 0	0 4 1 1		

0: Stop after the inverter runs one cycle

1: Keep final values after the inverter runs one cycle

2: Repeat after the inverter runs one cycle

When simple PLC is used as the frequency source, whether parameter values of D1.00 to D1.15 are positive or negative determines the running direction. If the parameter values are negative, it indicates that the inverter runs in reverse direction

PLC retentive upon power failure indicates that the inverter memorizes the PLC running moment and running frequency before power failure and will continue to run from the memorized moment after it is powered on again. If the unit's digit is set to 0, it restarts the PLC process after it is powered on again.

PLC retentive upon stop indicates that the inverter records the PLC running moment and running frequency upon stop and will continue to run from the recorded moment after it starts up again. If the ten's digit is 0, the inverter restarts the PLC process after it starts up again.

Frequency	D1.19 D1.21 D1.00 D1.21 D1.01 D1.01 D1.01 D1.01 D1.01 D1.01 D1.01 D1.01 D1.01	D1.14 D1.15	t
D1.17	Simple PLC retentive selection	Range:00~11	Default:00
0: Not 1 1: Reter Unit po Tens po	etentive ntive sition: Retentive at power down sition: Retentive at stop		
D1.18	Running time of simple PLC reference 0	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.19	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 0	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.20	Running time of simple PLC reference 1	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.21	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 1	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.22	Running time of simple PLC reference 2	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.23	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 2	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.24	Running time of simple PLC reference 3	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.25	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 3	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.26	Running time of simple PLC reference 4	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.27	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 4	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.28	Running time of simple PLC reference 5	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.29	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 5	Range:0~3	Default:0

D1.30	Running time of simple PLC reference 6	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.31	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 6	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.32	Running time of simple PLC reference 7	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.33	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 7	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.34	Running time of simple PLC reference 8	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.35	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 8	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.36	Running time of simple PLC reference 9	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.37	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 9	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.38	Running time of simple PLC reference 10	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.39	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 10	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.40	Running time of simple PLC reference 11	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.41	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 11	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.42	Running time of simple PLC reference 12	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.43	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 12	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.44	Running time of simple PLC reference 13	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.45	Acceleration/ deceleration time of simple PLC reference 13	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.46	Running time of simple PLC reference 14	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.47	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 14	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.48	Running time of simple PLC reference 15	Range: 0.0s (h) ~6553.5s (h)	Default:0.0s (h)
D1.49	Acceleration/deceleration time of simple PLC reference 15	Range:0~3	Default:0
D1.50	Time unit of simple PLC running	Range:0~1	Default:0
D1.51	Reference 0 source	Range:0~6	Default:0

D1-50 sets running time unit in simple PLC mode. D1-51 selects the setting channel of reference 0.

Group U1: Monitoring Parameters

U1.00		Running f	requency (H	Iz)		0.01Hz	
U1.01	U1.01 Set frequency (Hz)			0.01Hz			
U1.02		Output current (A)			0.01A		
U1.03		Output	voltage (V))		1V	
U1.04		Output	power (kW))		0.1kW	
U1.05		Output	torque (%)			0.1%	
U1.06		Bus v	oltage (V)			0.1V	
						•	_
U1.07		X ii	nput state1			1	
It displays state of l	DI terminals	. "1" indicat	es high level	signal,	and "O	" indicates low lo	evel signal.
Bit	4 B	it3 B	it2 I	Bit1	В	itO	
X	5 X	K4 Z	X3	X2	Σ	K1	
U1.09		DO	output state			1	٦
		" . "			140		
It displays state of I	DO terminal	s. "1" indicat	es high level	signal,	and "()" indicates low lo	evel signal.
-	Bit3	Bit2	Bitl	Bi	t0		
L	K2	KI	Y Z	I	1		
U1.10		AI1 ve	oltage (V)			0.01V	
U1.11		AI2 vo	oltage (V)			0.01V	
U1.12		AI3 vo	oltage (V)			0.01V	
Whether AI1 and A	I2 receives v	oltage input	or current inj	put is de	etermin	ed by setting of j	umper J1
and J2 on the contro	of board. The	input curren	t 1mA corres	pona to	0.5 V.		
U1.14		PI	D setting			1	
U1.15		PID	feedback			1	
U1.16		PID output		1	7		
They display the	e PID setting	value and PI	D feedback v	alue.			_
PID setting = PI	D setting (pe	ercentage) *E	0.04				
PID feedback =	PID feedbac	k (percentage	e) * D0.04				
PID output= PII	Ooutput (pe	ercentage)*D	0.04				
U1.18		Main	n frequency			0.01Hz	
U1.19		Auxili	ary frequency	ý		0.01Hz	
H0.18 displays the	setting of ma	ain frequency	.U1.19 displa	ays the s	setting	of auxiliary frequ	iency.
U1.20		Feedback sp	eed (unit:0.	1Hz)		0.1Hz	
It displays the actual output frequency of the inverter.					_		
U1.21 Count value				1			
It displays the current count value.Please refer to C4.24and C4.25.							
U1.22 Length value			1				
It displays the current length value.Please refer to C4.26~C4.28			•	_			
U1.23	23 Linear speed		1m/Min				
It displays the curre	ent linear spe	ed.Please ref	er to C4.27,0	24.28		•	_
U1.24		Accumulat	ive power-on	time		1Min	
It displays the curre	ent accumula	tive power-o	n time				
U1.25		Accumula	tive running	time		0.1Min	
1.1.2. International Contraction of the second seco							

It displays the current accumulative running time				
U1.26	Motor overload count	1		
It displays the current	t overload degree			
U1.27	Motor output current percentage	0.01%		
It displays the output	current percentage (Relative to motor rated current	nt)		
U1.28	Remaining operating time	0.1Min		
It displays the remain	ning operating time when it is timing running.			
U1.29	PLC stage	1		
It displays the current	t PLC stage			
U1.30	U1.30 Setting value by communication			
It displays the data written by means of the communication address 0x1000.				
U1.31	U1.31 AI1 input voltage (Before correction)			
U1.32	AI2 input voltage (Before correction)	0.01V		
U1.33	AI3 input voltage (Before correction)	0.01V		

Chapter 8 Maintenance and Troubleshooting

8.1 Daily Maintenance and Inspection of JT600

8.1.1 Daily Maintenance

Due to the effect of ambient temperature, humidity, dust and vibration, inverter's components age over time, leading to potential errors or shorter life of the motor dive. Therefore, it is necessary to perform maintenance on the inverter on daily basis. Below is the list of daily inspection:

1) if the inverter makes unusual sound while running;

- 2) if the motor vibrates while running;
- 3) if the installation environment have changes;
- 4) if the cooling fans are working properly;
- 5) if the inverter is overheated.

Daily Cleaning:

1) Keep the inverter clean;

2) Clean the dust on the surface of inverter, keeping them, especially the metal particles, from going inside inverter;

3) Clean the greasy dirt on the cooling fans.

8.1.2 Periodic Inspection

Please inspect the places that is hard to spot. Below is the list of places that need to inspect periodically:

- 1) Inspect the vents and clean them regularly;
- 2) Check loose screws;
- 3) Check if the inverter corrodes;
- 4) Check if there are any arc marks on terminals
- 5) Main Circuit Insulation Test

Note: Disconnect the inverter and main circuit when measuring insulation resistance using a megohmmeter (DC 500V Megohmmeter). Do not test the control circuit insulation using an insulation resistance meter. No need to perform High Voltage Test since it has been done before leaving the factory

8.1.3 Wear and Tear Parts Change

Inverter's wear and tear parts include cooling fans and electrolytic capacitor for filtering, and their life is closely related to ambient conditions and maintenance. Below are their life span:

Cooling Fans: 2-3 years

Electrolytic Capacitor: 4-5 years

Note: Standard life span is only valid under the conditions below. User may determine when to change parts according to their situation.

- Ambient Temperature: Annual average temperature is around 30 °C.
- Duty Cycle: Less than 80%
- Operating Rate: Less than 20 hours per day

1) Cooling Fans

Possible Damage Reasons: Worn bearings and aged fan blades

Criteria: if fan blades have cracks; if there is an unusual vibration sound at start-up

2) Electrolytic Capacitor for Filtering

Possible Damage Reasons: Bad Input Power Supply, High Ambient Temperature, Frequent Load Jump, and Aged Electrolytes.

Criteria: If there is a leakage of liquid, If there is a bulge on safety valve, test of electrostatic capacitance, and test of insulation resistance.

8.1.4 Storage for Inverter

A few notes that users need to know if they plan to store the inverter for a long or short period:

- 1) Put the product in the original package when storing it.
- 2) Long period of storage may result in the deterioration of electrolyte capacitance. Therefore, it is necessary to power it on in 2 years and have it stay on for at least 5 hours. Input voltage must slowly rise to the set value using a voltage regulator.

8.2 Warranty

- 1) Warranty may only apply to this inverter itself.
- 2) This Limited Warranty covers any defects in material or workmanship under normal use during the Warranty Period (please refer to the bar code on the product for the manufacture date) at no charge. After the Warranty Period, a reasonable charge will be applied.
- 3) During the Warranty Period, the following actions will result in a charge:
 - a) User does not follow the instruction manual and causes damage to the product;
 - b) Damage caused by fire, flood and abnormal voltage;
 - c) Damage caused by using the product improperly.

4) Any charge is subject to the company's standard. If an agreement is made, the agreement is prioritized.

8.3 Faults and Solutions

The JT600 provides a total of 24 pieces of fault information and protective functions. After a fault occurs, the inverter implements the protection function, and displays the fault code on the operation panel (if the operation panel is available).

Before contacting Juditech for technical support, you can first determine the fault type, analyze the causes, and perform troubleshooting according to the following tables. If the fault cannot be rectified, contact the agent or Juditech. Err22 is the inverter hardware over current or over voltage signal. In most situations, hardware over voltage fault causes Err22.

Name	Display	Possible Causes	Solutions
Over current During Acceleration	Err02	 Inverter's output circuit is grounded or short; Control mode is vector and no parameters identification; Acceleration time is too short; Voltage is too low; Initiate start on the motor while it is still running; Sudden load added while accelerating; The model of inverter is too small; The braking resistor is short. 	 Eliminate the peripheral failure; Initiate the identification of motor parameters; Increase acceleration time; Adjust the voltage to the normal range; Choose rotational speed tracking start or start it after the motor stops; Cancel the sudden load addition; Use the inverter that has a higher power level; Check if the braking resistance is normal
Over current During Deceleration	Err03	 Inverter's output circuit is grounded or short; Control mode is vector and no parameters identification; Deceleration time is too short. Voltage is too low; Sudden load added while decelerating; No braking units or braking resistors added The braking resistor is short. 	 Eliminate the peripheral failure; Initiate the identification of motor parameters; Increase deceleration time; Adjust the voltage to the normal range; Choose rotational speed tracking start or start it after the motor stops; Cancel the sudden load addition; Check if the braking resistance is normal.

Over current at Constant Speed	Err04	 Inverter's output circuit is grounded or short; Control mode is vector and no parameters identification; Voltage is too low; Sudden load added during operation; The model of inverter is too small; The braking resistor is short. 	 Eliminate the peripheral failure; Initiate the identification of motor parameters; Adjust the voltage to the normal range; Choose rotational speed tracking start or start it after the motor stops; Cancel the sudden load addition; Use the inverter that has a higher power level; Check if the braking resistance is normal.
Over voltage During Acceleration	Err05	 Input voltage is too high; An external force drags the motor during acceleration; Acceleration time is too short; No braking units or braking resistors added 	 Adjust the voltage to the normal range; Remove the external force or add braking resistors; Increase acceleration time; Add braking units and braking resistors.
Over voltage During Deceleration	Err06	 Input voltage is too high; An external force drags the motor during deceleration; Deceleration time is too short; No braking units or braking resistors added 	 Adjust the voltage to the normal range; Remove the external force or add braking resistors; Increase deceleration time; Add braking units and braking resistors.
Over voltage at Constant Speed	Err07	 Input voltage is too high; An external force drags the motor during deceleration; 	 Adjust the voltage to the normal range; Remove the external force or add braking resistors;
Power Supply Failure	Err08	Input voltage is not within the range of regulation.	Adjust input voltage to the range of regulation.
under- voltage	Err09	 Sudden power outages; Input voltage of the inverter is not within the range of regulation; Unusual bus voltage; Bride rectifiers and rubber resistor malfunctions; Drive board malfunctions; Control board malfunctions. 	 Fault reset; Adjust the voltage to the normal range; Contact tech support;
Inverter Overload	Err10	 Excessive load or motor stalling; The model of inverter is too small. 	 Reduce load and inspect the motor and mechanical conditions; Use the inverter that has a higher power level.

Motor Overload	Err11	1: Check if A3.11: motor protection parameter is appropriately set; 2: Excessive load or motor stalling; 3: The model of inverter is too small.	 Set the parameter correctly; Reduce load and inspect the motor and mechanical conditions; Use the inverter that has a higher power level.
Input Phase Loss	Err12	 Abnormal three-phase input power; Drive board malfunctions; Lightening protection board malfunctions; Main control board malfunctions 	 Check and eliminate the problems in the peripheral circuit; Contact tech support; Contact tech support; Contact tech support.
Output Phase Loss	Err13	 Abnormal wiring from inverter to motor; Unbalanced three-phase output of inverter when motor operates; Drive board malfunctions; Modules malfunction. 	 Eliminate peripheral errors; Inspect three-phase winding and eliminate errors; Contact tech support; Contact tech support.
Modules Overheat	Err14	 1: Ambient temperature is too high; 2: Clogged vents; 3: Broken fans; 4: Broken thermistor modules; 5: Broken inverter module; 	 Lower ambient temperature; Clean the vents; Replace the fans; Replace the thermistor modules; Replace the inverter modules.
External Equipment Fault	Err15	1: External fault signal input via Terminal X. 2: External fault signal input via virtual I/O.	Reset the operation.
Communicat ion Failure	Err16	 Host computer malfunctions; Communication wires malfunction; Incorrect setting of FD group of communication parameters. 	 Check the wiring of host computer; Check the wiring of communication; Correctly set the communication parameters.
Contactor Failure	Err17	 Drive board and power malfunction; Contactor malfunction. 	 1: Change the drive board or power board; 2: Change the contactors.
Current Detection Failure	Err18	1: Check hall devices; 2: Check drive board.	1: Replace the hall devices; 2: Replace the drive board.
Motor Auto-tuning Fault	Err19	 The motor parameters are not properly set according to the nameplate. The motor auto-tuning times out 	 Set the motor parameters according to the nameplate properly. Check the cable connection between the inverter and the motor.

Encoder Fault	Err20	 The encoder model does not match. The cable connection of the encoder is incorrect. The encoder is damaged. The PG card is faulty 	 Set the encoder type correctly based on the actual situation. Eliminate external faults. Replace the damaged encoder. Replace the faulty PG card.
EEPROM Read and Write Failure	Err21	Damaged EEPROM Chip	Replace the main control board.
Inverter Hardware Malfunctions	Err22	1: Over-voltage; 2: Over-current.	 Deal it as over-voltage error; Deal it as over-current error.
Ground Fault Errors	Err23	Ground fault of the motor	Change electric cables or motors.
User-defined Fault 1	Err27	The user-defined fault 1 signal is input via Terminal X.	Reset the operation
User-Define d Fault 2	Err28	The user-defined fault 2 signal is input via Terminal X.	Reset the operation
Reach the set total Power-On Time	Err29	Accumulated power-on time (A3.13) reaches the set value (A2.16).	Clear the records using the initiation of parameters.
Offload Errors	Err30	Operation current of inverter is smaller than A3.30.	Confirm the removal of load or if parameters setting of A3.31and A3.30 matches real situation.
PID Feedback Lost During Operating	Err31	The PID feedback is lower than the setting of D0.26.	Check the PID feedback signal or set D0.26 to a proper value.
CBC Errors	Err40	 Excessive load or motor stalling; The model of inverter is too small. 	 Reduce load and inspect the motor and mechanical conditions; Use the inverter that has a higher power level.
Large Speed Deviation	Err42	 The encoder parameters are set incorrectly. The motor auto-tuning is not activated. A3-34and A3-35are set incorrectly. 	 Set the encoder parameters properly. Perform the motor auto-tuning. Set parameters correctly based on the actual situation.
Motor over-speed	Err43	 The encoder parameters are set incorrectly. The motor auto-tuning is not activated. A3.32and A3.33 are set incorrectly 	 Set the encoder parameters properly. Perform the motor auto tuning. Set F9.67 and F9.68 correctly based on the actual situation.

8.4 Common Errors and Solutions

SN	Error Types	Possible Causes	Solutions
1	No Display With Power On No Display With Power		Inspect input power; Check bus voltage; Unplug and plug the wires on pin 8 and pin 28; Contact tech support.
2	Garbled Codes On the Display	Bad connection between drive board and control board; Damaged parts on control board; Short motor or motor cables ground fault; Hall errors; Power grid voltage too low;	Unplug and plug the wires on pin 8 and pin 28; Contact tech support.
3	Err23" Alert on the Display	Short motor or motor cables ground fault; Broken motor drive;	Measure the insulation of the motor and the output cable using a megohmmeter; Contact tech support.
4	Frequent "Err14" Module Overheated Alert	The setting of carrier frequency is too high; Broken fans or clogged vents; Internal damaged parts of motor drive (Thermocouple, etc.);	Lower the carrier frequency (A0.16); Replace fans, and clean the vents; Contact tech support.
5 Motor Does Not Work After Starting The Motor Drive		Motor and motor cables; Incorrect motor drive parameters setting (Motor parameters); Bad connection between drive board and control board; Drive board malfunctions.	Check the connection between motor drive and motor; Change the motor or eliminate mechanic errors; Check and reset the motor parameters.
6	X Terminal Failure	Parameter setting errors; External signal errors; PLC and loose +24V jump wire; Control board errors.	Check and reset group C0 parameters; Reconnect external signal wires; Reconfirm PLC and +24V jump wire; Contact tech support.
7 The motor speed cannot be increased in CLVC mode		The encoder is faulty. The encoder cable is connected incorrectly or in poor contact. The PG card is faulty. The drive board is faulty.	Replace the encoder and ensure the cabling is proper. Replace the PG card. Contact the agent or Juditech for technical support.
8	Frequent Error Reports of Over-current and Over-voltage By Motor Drive	Incorrect motor parameters setting; Inappropriate Acceleration /Deceleration Time; Load Fluctuation.	Reset motor parameters or tune the motor; Set a proper acceleration /deceleration time; Contact tech support

9	Err17 Alert	Soft-starter does not pull in;	Check if there are the loose wires on the contactor; Check if the contactor malfunctions; Check if 24V power supply can normally power the contactor; Contact tech support.
10	Display "8.8.8.8.8."	Damaged parts on the control board;	Change the control board.

Appendix A: MODBUS Communication Protocol

JT600 series inverters provides RS485 communication port and supports the Modbus-RTU slave communication protocol. Central control may be realized via computers or PLC. Through this communication protocol, it is possible to change the settings of inverter's operation commands, to modify or read function parameters, and to read inverter's operation status and error information, etc.

1.1 Protocol Contents

This serial communication protocol defines the contents and use format that transmits in the serial communication, which includes polling (or broadcasting) format; for encoding methods of host, it includes the functions requiring actions, transmitting data and error calibration, etc. For the response of slave, it has the same structure, including actions confirmed, returning data, and error calibration, etc. If error occurs while slave is receiving information or it can not complete the actions host requires, it will return an error information to host as feedback.

1.1.1 Application

A PC/PLC control network that has "single host and multiple slaves" of RS485 bus is connected to inverter as a communication slave.

1.1.2 Bus Structure

1). Hardware Connection

RS485 needs connected to inverter.

2). Topology Structure

A system of single host and multiple slaves. Each communication device has only one slave address in the network, and one device as the communication host (PC Host, PLC and HMI, etc) spontaneously initiate the communication to read or write the parameters on slaves. Other devices as the communication slaves respond to the access from the host or communication operations. Only one device can send out data at one time, and other devices are receiving data.

The setting range of slave address is $1\sim 247$ of which 0 is the broadcasting communication address. The slave address in the network has to be unique.

3). Communication Transmission Methods

Asynchronous serial communication and two-way alternating communication. While transmitting data through asynchronous serial communication, the data is sent out as messages, one frame at a time. According to MODBUS-RTU protocol, when the free time of no data on communication cables is larger than the transmission time of 3.5 Byte, it indicates a new beginning of a communication frame.

JT600 series inverter's built-in communication protocol is Modbus-RTU slave communication protocol, responding to host's "reading/commands" or doing the corresponding actions according to host's "reading/commands" then responding with communication data.

Hosts can be referred to personal computer (PC), industrial control device or programmable logic controller (PLC),etc. The hosts can either communicate with one slave alone or send out some broadcasting information to all the slaves. For the individual "query/command" of the host, the accessed slave must return a response frame. For the broadcasting information the host sends out, the slaves do not have to return a feedback.

1.2 Communication Frame Description

1.2.1 Communication Frame Format

JT600 series inverter's Modbus communication data format is RTU mode as below:

A byte contains: initial bit, 8 bits of data, check bit and stop bit.

	Initial Bit	Bit1	Bit2	Bit3	Bit4	Bit5	Bit6	Bit7	Bit8	Check Bit	Stop Bit
--	-------------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	------	-----------	----------

In the RTU mode, messages have to sent out in between of the pause intervals of at least 3.5 characters time, which can be easily realized given the various character time in the network baud rates. The first domain transmitted is device address where hexadecimal is used during the transmission.

Network devices continuously monitor the network bus, including pause intervals. When the first domain (address domain) receives messages, each device will decode them to decide if the messages are sent to them. After the last transmitted character, an pause of at least 3.5 characters time indicates the end of a message. A new message may start after the pause. If a new message is sent out before the pause of 3.5 characters time ends, the receiving device will consider it as a continuation of the previous message. Such action will lead to an error because the last value of CRC domain is incorrect.

RTU Data Frame Format as below:

Frame Head	Slave Add	dress	Command Codes	Function Codes	Data	Check	End	
Data Fra	me Bits Des	criptio	ons:					
Frame Head	START	Larg	er than the transmission	on time of 3.5 charac	ters			
Slave Addre	ess ADR	Communication Addresses Range: 1~247; 0=Broadcast Address						
Command Co	des CMD	03:	Read Slave Paramete	rs; 06: Write Slave	Parameter	:s		
Function Codes Address H		Inverter's built-in parameter address which is represented by hexadecimal is divided into function code parameters and non-function code parameters.						
Function Codes	Address L	Please refer to address definitions for more info. While transmitting, high bit is in front of low bit.						
Function Codes Count H		This frame reads the number of function codes. If it's 1, it means 1 function						
Function Code	es Count L	code is detected. High bit is in front of low bit while transmitting. This protocol can only rewrite 1 function code.						
Data H		Response data or data to write in. High bit is in front of low bit while						
Data	L	transmitting.						
CRC CHK Low Bit		Detection Value: CRC16 Check Value. Low bit is in front of high bit while						
CRC CHK I	High Bit	transmitting Refer to CRC Check Description for calculation methods.						
END)	3.5 (Characters					

1.1.2 Command Codes and Communication Data Description

Inverter supports read and write of word parameters. Operation Command for Read: 0x03; Operation Command for Write:0x06. Byte or bit read/write operations are not supported.

1) Command Code: 03H, read N words (Up to 12 words).

For example: An inverter's slave address is 01 and its start address is A0.03. Read 1 word from the start address, and this frame's structure is described as the following:

Host Command Information:

ADR	01H
CMD	03H
Start Address High Bit	A0H
Start Address Low Bit	03H
Register Count High Bit	00H
Register Count Low Bit	01H
CRC CHK Low Bit	56H
CRC CHK High Bit	0AH

Slave's Response Message:

When A5.05 is 0 (Non-Standard Modbus Protocol):

01H
03H
00H
02H
00H
04H
E5
C9

When A5.05 is 1 (Standard Modbus Protocol):

ADR	01H
CMD	03H
Byte Count Low Bit	02H
F003H High Bit	00H
F003H Low Bit	04H
CRC CHK Low Bit	B9
CRC CHK High Bit	87

2) Command Code 06H. Write 1 word.

Function: Write the data of a word to the designated data address in order to modify the parameters of inverter.

For example: Write 5000(1388H) to the address A00A([A0.10]) of Inverter (Slave address: 01H). This frame is described as the following:

Host Command Information:

ADR	01H
CMD	06H
Data Address High Bit	A0H
Data Address Low Bit	0AH
Data Content High Bit	13H
Data Content Low Bit	88H
CRC CHK Low Bit	86
CRC CHK High Bit	9E

Slave Response Information:

ADR	01H
CMD	06H
Data Address High Bit	A0H
Data Address Low Bit	0AH
Data Content High Bit	13H
Data Content Low Bit	88H
CRC CHK Low Bit	97
CRC CHK High Bit	9E

1.2.3 CRC Check Methods

CRC(Cyclical Redundancy Check) utilizes RTU frame format, and its messages include the error check domain based on CRC method. CRC domain is able to detect the content of messages. CRC domain has two bytes, including 16 bits of binary value. It is added to the messages after CRC is calculated by transmission device. Receiving device will recalculate CRC in the messages and compare it with the value received in CRC domain. If they are not equal, it indicates an error occurs during the transmission.

1.3 Communication Data Address Definition

Function Code Parameters Read/Write (Some function codes are non-modifiable and subject to the manufacturers or for the purpose of monitoring.

1.3.1 Labeling Rules of Function Code Parameters Address

Register address is divided into higher bytes and lower bytes depending on the inverter's function codes sequence. Higher bytes represents the group sequence of function parameters, and lower bytes represents the sequence of function parameters inside a group. Both of them need converted into hexadecimal.

Higher Bytes: A0~AF(Group A), B0~BF(Group B), E0~E1 (Group U)

Lower Bytes: 00~FF

Function codes group number and their communication access addresses:

Communication Access Address for A0-AF: 0xA000~0xAFFF; Communication Access Address for U1: 0xE100~0xE1FF.

For example, if the function code is A3.12, then its access address is 0xA30C.

Note: Group AF: No reading or modification of parameters.

Group U1: Parameters can be read only. No modification of parameters.

Some parameters is not modifiable during the operation of inverter; Some can not be modified under any circumstances; Please note the range and units of parameters and their description when modifying them.

In addition, frequent use of EEPROM will reduce the life span of it. Therefore, you may change the values of some function codes in RAM instead of saving them at EEPROM. It is possible to do so by changing the high bit F of the function code's address to 0. For example, if the function code A3.12 is not to be saved at EEPROM, the address can be written as 030C.

1.3.2 Address Description of Other Function Parameters

1). Halt/Operating

Parameter Address	Parameter Description	Parameter Address	Parameter Description
1000H	*Communication Setting Value (Decimal) -10000~10000	1010H	PID Setting
1001H	Operating Frequency	1011H	PID Feedback
1002H	Bus Voltage	1012H	PLC Procedures
1003H	Output Voltage	1013H	PULSE Input Pulse Frequency, Unit: 0.01kHz
1004H	Output Current	1014H	Feedback Speed, Unit: 0.1Hz
1005H	Output Power	1015H	Remaining Operating Time
1006H	Output Torque	1016H	AI1 Voltage Before Calibration
1007H	Operating Speed	1017H	AI2 Voltage Before Calibration
1008H	DI Input Sign	1018H	AI3 Voltage Before Calibration
1009H	DO Output Sign	1019H	Linear Speed
100AH	AI1 Voltage	101AH	Current Power-On Voltage
100BH	AI2 Voltage	101BH	Current Operating Time

100CH	AI3 Voltage	101CH	Input Pulse Frequency, Unit: 1Hz
100DH	Count Input	101DH	Communication Setting Value
100EH	Length Input	101EH	Actual Feedback Speed
100FH	Load Speed	101FH	Main Frequency X Display
-	-	1020H	Auxiliary Frequency Y Display

Note:

Communication setting value is a relative value of 100 percentage. 10000 corresponds to 100.00% while -100000 to -100.00%.

For the frequency dimension, this percentage is relative to the percentage of the max frequency (A0.11).

2). Inverter Receiving Control Commands: (Write Only)

Command Address	Command Function	
	0001: Forward Operation	
	0002: Reverse Operation	
	0003: Forward JOG	
2000H	0004: Reverse JOG	
	0005: Coasting to Stop	
	0006: Decelerating to Stop	
	0007: Fault Reset	

3). Reading Inverter's Status: (Read Only)

Status Address	Status Function		
	0001: Forward Operation		
3000H	0002: Reverse Operation		
	0003: Halt		

4)Digital Output Terminals Control: (Write Only)

Command Address	Command Contents	
2001H	BIT0: Y1 Output Control BIT1: Y2 Output Control BIT2: RELAY1 Output Control BIT3: RELAY2 Output Control BIT4: FMR Output Control	

5) Analog Output AO1 Control: (Write Only)

Command Address	Command Contents	
2002H	0~7FFF represents 0%~100%	

6). Analog Output AO2 Control: (Write Only)

Command Address	Command Contents
2003H	0~7FFF represents 0%~100%

7) Pulse Output Control: (Write Only)

Command Address	Command Contents	
2004H	0~7FFF represents 0%~100%	

8) Faults Description of Inverter

0000: No Error0015: EEPROM Read-Write Error0001: Reserved0016: Inverter Hardware Errors0002:Over current during Acceleration0017: Motor Short to Ground0003:Over current during Deceleration0018: Reserved	Faults Address	Faults Information		
8000H0004: Over current at a Constant Speed 0005: Over voltage during Acceleration 0006: Over voltage during Deceleration 0007: Over voltage at a Constant Speed 	8000H	0000: No Error 0001: Reserved 0002:Over current during Acceleration 0003:Over current during Deceleration 0004: Over current at a Constant Speed 0005: Over voltage during Acceleration 0006: Over voltage during Deceleration 0007: Over voltage during Deceleration 0008: Buffer Resistor Overload 0009: Under voltage 000A: Inverter Overload 000B: Motor Overload 000D: Power Input Phase Loss 000D: Power Output Phase Loss 000D: Power Output Phase Loss 000E: Module Overheated 000F: External Parts Error 0010: Communication Errors 0011: Contactor Fault 0012: Current Detection Errors 0013: Motor Auto-tuning Errors 0014: Enceder/PG Cord Errors	0015: EEPROM Read-Write Error 0016: Inverter Hardware Errors 0017: Motor Short to Ground 0018: Reserved 0019: Reserved 0019: Coperating Time Reached 001B: User-Defined Fault 1 001C: User-Defined Fault 2 001D:Accumulated Power-On Time Reached 001E: Load Drop 001F:PID Feedback Lost during Operating 0028: Rapid Current Limit Over-Time Fault 002A: Large Speed Deviation 002B: Motor Over-speed 005A: Encoders PPR Setting Fault 005B: Encoder Disconnected 005C: Faulty Initial Position	

Communication Error Address	Error Descriptions
8001H	0000: No Error 0001: Incorrect Password 0002: Incorrect Command Codes 0003: CRC Check Error 0004: Invalid Address 0005: Invalid Parameters 0006: Invalid Parameters Modification 0007: System is locked 0008: EEPROM is in operation

1.4 Description of Group FD Communication Parameters

	Baud Rate	Factory Value	5
A5.00	Range of Settings	0: 300BPS 1: 600BPS 2: 1200BPS 3: 2400BPS 4: 4800BPS 5: 9600BPS 6: 19200BPS 7: 38400BPS 8: 57600BPS 9: 115200BPS	

This parameter is used to set the data transmission rate between host and inverter. Note: The baud rates of host and inverter have to be equal in order to communicate properly. The larger the baud rate is, the faster the communication is.

	Data Format	Factory Value	0
A5.01		0: No Check: Data Format	<8,N,2>
	Range of Settings	1: Even Parity Check: Data	a Format <8,E,1>
		2: Odd Parity Check: Data	Format <8,0,1>
		3: No Check: Data Format	<8-N-1>

The data format of host has to match that of inverter. Otherwise, the communication will fail.

A5 02	Address	Factory Value	1
A3.02	Range of Settings	1~247, 0 is the broadcasting address	

When the address of this inverter is set to 0, it is the broadcasting address and able to broadcast by the host.

The address of this inverter is unique (except the broadcasting address), which is the foundation of point-to-point communication between the host and inverter.

A5.03	Response Delay	Factory Value	2ms
	Range of Settings	0~20ms	

Response Delay: It indicates the time interval between the end of inverter receiving data and sending it to the host. If the response delay is less than the time of system processing, then the delay is consistent with the time of system processing; if the response delay is larger than the time of system processing, then it will have to wait until the response time is reached and sends data to the host.

A5.04	Communication Over-time	Factory Value	0.0s
	Range of Settings	0.0s (invalid); 0.1s~60.0s	

When the function code is set to 0.0s, the parameter becomes invalid.

When this function code is set as valid, if the time interval between this communication and next communication is larger than the communication over-time, it will report communication error (Err16). Usually it is set as invalid. This parameter can also be set to monitoring the status of communication in a system of continuous communication

A5.05	Communication Protocol Selection	Factory Value	0
	Range of Settings	0: Non-standard Modbus Protocol; 1: Standard Modbus Protocol	

A5.05=1: Select standard Modbus protocol.

A5.05=0: Select non-standard Modbus protocol. When reading commands, the number of the bytes received from the slave is one byte longer than the standard Modbus protocol

A5.06	Communication Reading Current Resolution	Factory Value	0
	Range of Settings	0: 0.01A	
		1: 0.1A	

It determines the output unit of current value when communication reading the current.